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SCOPE AND REPORTING BOUNDARY
The information presented in this report describes the South African Institute 
of Professional Accountants (SAIPA) as well as the five regions that make up 
the national footprint, including its associated districts. 

This report presents the activities and Annual Financial Statements of SAIPA 
for the year ended 31 December 2016. It also describes the strategic focus 
and how this aligns with the way that SAIPA creates value. In this report, we 
discuss our business, issues within the environment, risks and opportunities.

In summary, the report presents material information needed for stakeholders 
to understand SAIPA. 

DISCLAIMER
Some of the statements in the Annual Integrated Report constitute forward-
looking statements. These are not guarantees or predictions of future 
performance. As discussed in the report, the business faces risks and factors 
outside of our control, which may lead to outcomes unforeseen by the 
Institute. These are not reflected in the report. Readers are cautioned not to 
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.

ASSURANCE
The Annual Financial Statements have been audited by our external auditors. 
At this stage we have not sought independent verification of the other metrics 
reported in our Annual Integrated Report although our external auditors have 
reviewed it for reasonableness.

FEEDBACK
SAIPA welcomes your feedback on our Annual Integrated Report. Please 
email your comments and suggestions to air@saipa.co.za.

fore
WORD
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DUMISANI DLAMINI
SAIPA Brand Ambassador 2016, Professional 
Accountant (SA), Chief Financial Officer of the 
National Arts Council, 2016 Young CFO of the 
Year, 2016 Public Sector CFO of the Year.

I have always had a passion for 
accounting. I wanted to tell a story 
through numbers and I knew SAIPA 
was the right platform for me to 
achieve that. I know that having 
the designation of Professional 
Accountant (SA) next to my name 
has enabled me to get ahead in my 
career and prepared me for  
my role in leadership.
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about
SAIPA

SAIPA AT A GLANCE
The South African Institute of Professional Accountants 
(SAIPA) is one of the leading accountancy institutes, 
representing and supporting its members to fulfil the 
increasing demands of business in South Africa’s growing 
economy by equipping the Professional Accountant (SA) 
with the latest knowledge, techniques and accreditation 
required to render key services.

SAIPA contributes to the advancement of the accountancy 
profession, influencing legislation and constantly 
transforming to keep abreast of business, financial and social  
developments – both nationally and internationally.

SAIPA is a member of the International Federation of 
Accountants (IFAC) and the Pan African Federation of 
Accountants (PAFA). The SAIPA designation, Professional 
Accountant (SA), is nationally recognised at an NQF Level 8 
by the South African Qualifications Authority (SAQA).
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VISION  

To be the Professional Accountancy 

Organisation of choice.

VALUES  

Integrity 

Excellence

Professionalism

MISSION

To optimise the success of the Professional 

Accountant (SA) in the public interest.

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS

Growth and Transformation
To secure the growth and transformation of SAIPA.

Stakeholder Relations
To strengthen SAIPA’s relationships with all national 
and international stakeholders.

Capacity and Professionalism
To enhance the capacity and professionalism of 
members and staff.

Compliance and Sustainability
To ensure compliance and sustainability of our 
members and the Institute.

1

2

3
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Vision, Mission and Values



GROWING FROM STRENGTH TO 
STRENGTH 
I started my journey as Chairman with the 
slogan “stronger together” in mind and 
in 2016 I believe we, as SAIPA, grew from 
strength to strength. We saw many challenges 
and successes over the year with the turmoil 
of the Rand, unstable economies and yet we 
emerged from this turmoil, transformed.

Together with our new CE, Bongani Coka, we 
focused on growing and transforming SAIPA 
in various aspects of the business. From 
board strategies, to identifying opportunities 
for SAIPA to grow its profile internationally; 
to leveraging marketing campaigns, refining 
our messaging to the press and increasing 
our brand awareness by engaging with brand 
ambassadors.

Internationally, more and more Professional 
Accountants (SA) are emerging in the 
market place and their small and medium 
practices are being recognised. They are an 
integral cog in the system of good financial 
management. The focus on the Professional 
Accountant (SA) is growing, along with 
business opportunities, for professional 
accountants worldwide.

SAIPA is a matured institute that specialises 
in professional accountants. There are a 
number of mentoring opportunities that 
SAIPA has harnessed, we have grown our 
relationship with NIPA (Namibian Institute of 
Professional Accountants) and have a working 
model as a mentor. We are guiding other 
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institutions in Africa, which positions SAIPA 
as a thought leader within our own industry. 
Our continent is an untapped mentoring 
opportunity for SAIPA, and it is important 
for us to take a South African Development 
Community (SADC) view point when it comes 
to the development of non-attest function in 
the continent and globally. 

South Africans faced a water crisis in 2016 
and was at its severest yet. This breeds 
new thinking and innovation to meet the 
challenge. Although you may wonder what 
this shortage has to do with our profession, 
accountants had to measure the economics 
of these sophisticated transactions and their 
impact. SAIPA’s leading CPD format and 
easy-to-apply policy provided the technical 
support to give confidence to our members 
to work the economics of these transactions.

As the Board, we embarked on a drive to align 
and redesign our governing documents. We 
saw the need for this through the amount 
of time we spent just understanding and 
interpreting the documents to carry out 
our duty. We started with the constitution, 
ensuring the tone of “by the members for 
the members” was preserved and clearly 
articulated. We upheld good corporate 
governance principles, to the best of our 
ability. It also enabled the Board to fill 
vacant posts, but not without the approval 
of the general members. Transparency in 
governance builds trust, and it is my hope 
that you, as the members, feel represented 
in our actions.

Part of growing the SAIPA brand was to 
start profiling SAIPA and our identified 
executives in the press. We had a more 
strategic approach in our target markets and 
the message we wanted to put out there. 
This included several radio broadcasts, TV 
interviews and traditional print. By growing 
our press footprint, we ensure that SAIPA 
not only stays relevant, but is portrayed 
as a current leading body for Professional 
Accountants (SA) and one who keeps up with 
the trends. 

On that note, I would like to congratulate 
the members in practice and student bodies 
who agreed to represent SAIPA as our very 
proud ambassadors. They continue to wave 
the SAIPA flag high and represent our brand.

We embarked on a rigorous process at 
the beginning of the year to find the best 
candidate to lead the organisation as 
the Chief Executive. Bongani Coka was  
carefully identified and appointed on  
1 July 2016. I am pleased to report at the 
time of writing this, he was post-probation 
and had already reflected great value to 
SAIPA, building on the foundation set by 
his predecessor. We are thankful to Faith 
Ngwenya for the role she played in the 
transition period. 

In August 2016, the Board agreed upon the 
strategy for 2017/2020. The main objective 
of this strategy is to attract new members 
and lift the name of SAIPA even higher, both 
locally and internationally. 

The Board was fully engaged in the strategy 
development and will continue to monitor 
the related risks. 

In closing, 24 months of my leadership 
has come and gone. I am thankful to the 
supportive Board that carried the baton 
with me, taking SAIPA to new and greater 
heights. The value of a widely diverse group 
in leadership cannot be over emphasised. I 
am grateful to those who came before us, 
who laid a solid foundation on which we 
worked. To the Board who takes over from 
us, I pass the baton over to you and wish you 
well on your SAIPA journey of growth and 
transformation, in all its aspects.

Cindy S Dibete
SAIPA Chairman – 2016

chairman s
REPORT 

‘
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executive’s

REPORT
Heraclitus, a Greek philosopher, is quoted as saying “change 
is the only constant in life”. This couldn’t ring more true 
when I look at SAIPA and my role. Every year things change. 
The strength of the Rand fluctuates, along with these 
fluctuations come weakening or strengthening of economies, 
government parties change, and best accounting practices 
are ever evolving. I suppose it is only natural for change to be 
the common thread every year, for as long as we are changing 
and moving in the right direction, we as an organisation are 
transforming and moving forward.

The Board appointed me as Chief Executive of SAIPA 
in July 2016. I accepted this position because I believe 
that SAIPA’s role is critical for the sustainability of small to 
medium enterprises, which I am extremely passionate about. 
Professional Accountants (SA) are ideally positioned to act as 
trusted partners offering a range of business advisory services; 
and SAIPA’s role is assist them to unlock the potential of the 
small business sector, ensuring its sustainability.

chief
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At the time of writing this report, we received 
our accreditation with IFAC for another two 
years. This is an important alliance for us 
as it shows SAIPA adheres to international 
standards and meets the stringent 
requirements to maintain our accreditation. 
It also enables our members to practice in 
countries with which we have Memorandum 
of Agreements (MOAs).

There are several pillars which stand out to 
me when looking at the year past:

GROWTH AND TRANSFORMATION
This past year SAIPA resuscitated its growth 
and transformation committee as part of the 
secretariat. This means we are committed to 
constantly focus on ensuring our organisation 
and offerings to our members remain 
relevant and change as the economies and 
environment change.

In addition to this, our Exco team has 
carefully mapped out and developed a 
five-year growth plan. This will see SAIPA 
improving its market share in the near 
future. 

Our growth is shown in our numbers as well. 
Professional Accountant (SA) membership 
has grown by 6% growth over the past year 
from 8,416 to 8,914. 

Slow and steady, yet it shows SAIPA is 
remaining a preferred association of choice, 
and as our marketing, training, education 
and knowledge sharing efforts grow and 
strengthen, so will our acquisitions. 

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS
SAIPA has participated in four professional 
exhibitions to further expose our brand: Tax 
Indaba, Finance Indaba, CFO Indaba and 
IMFO. By being profiled and associated with 
these prestigious events, it unlocks SAIPA’s 
potential to network and ensure we share 
the most up-to-date knowledge with our 
members.

On an international front, we are currently  
revising, or establishing, MOAs with  
the following Professional Accountancy 
Organisations (PAOs):

a.  BICA – Botswana
b.  ICAM – Malawi
c.  MIPA – Mauritius
d.  LIA – Lesotho
e.  SAI – Swaziland
f. AMOJOC – Mozambique

By entering into MoU’s with the above listed 
bodies, our members are recognised as 
Professional Accountants (SA) in the relevant 
countries (possibly subject to writing further 
exams). Our members have the option for 
dual memberships at discounted annual 
fees. These bodies will provide technical and 
educational assistance to SAIPA members 
where needed, which helps SAIPA on our 
path of educating our nation. By partnering 
with professional bodies like these, SAIPA 
increases its global footprint and creates 
brand awareness for the SAIPA brand 
throughout Africa.

ENSURING SUSTAINABILITY OF 
RELEVANCE
SAIPA strives to ensure we remain relevant to 
our market and members. One of our efforts 
to stay relevant is through our Continuous 
Professional Development (CPD) events 
where we keep members abreast of the 
laws and how to ensure they are complying. 
Once again we have seen growth in our CPD 
attendance, increasing from 8,320 to 11,184 
in 2016.

As I mentioned, SAIPA received its accredita-
tion with IFAC for an additional two years. We 
ensure relevance to our members and the  
industry through all our international and  
local accreditations. 

Our qualification is accredited through 
the Quality Council for Trades and 
Occupations (QCTO). This is a Quality 
Council established in terms of the 
Skills Development Act to oversee the 

design, implementation, assessment and 
certification of occupational qualifications 
on the Occupational Qualifications Sub-
Framework (OQSF). This means our 
Professional Accountant (SA) designation is  
accredited and recognised by the QCTO. 
We will be applying to accredit our other  
designations such as Tax Professional  
(SA), and Business Rescue Practitioner (SA)  
in 2017.

SAIPA’s marketing is keeping up with the 
times. We saw our first Brand Ambassador 
advertising campaign go live in August 2016, 
which proved a huge success with members 
calling in to compliment the campaign. We 
carefully profiled and selected members of 
SAIPA who represent the SAIPA brand. Phase 
two of this visual campaign is set to launch 
in 2017 where we shift the focus to the end 
user, as such, of the Professional Accountant 
(SA) – those companies who seek to employ 
knowledgeable, highly qualified, and ethical 
individuals.

ADHERENCE TO HIGHEST 
STANDARDS OF CONDUCT
SAIPA prides itself on adhering to the highest 
standards of conduct. This year we have 
shown just how serious we are about this. 
The board approved our whistle blowing 
policy which has been launched internally to 
staff and will be rolled out during 2017 to our 
members.

SAIPA’S NATIONAL ACCOUNTING 
OLYMPIAD
Every year we run, in conjunction with 
Proverto, the SAIPA National Accounting 
Olympiad. The future bodes well for the 
South African accountancy profession as 
the top six learners achieved an average of 
more than 90%. Interestingly, the six came 
from four different provinces with the top 
pupil – who achieved 96.5% – coming from  
KwaZulu-Natal.

We are pleased with the results of the National 
Accounting Olympiad because they continue 

Chief Executive’s Report
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to show there are pockets of excellence in 
our schools and that public schools continue 
to perform on par with private schools. This 
is an encouraging sign for the future of the 
accounting profession. We aim to reach more 
schools, extend the Olympiad to Grade 11 
learners, and ultimately encourage more 
pupils to participate in the 2017 competition.

ISO 9001:2008
SAIPA is one of a handful of professional 
bodies to be accredited by ISO 9001. Our 
legal and compliance department conducts 
regular internal audits to ensure all our 
departments comply with the stringent 
criteria on a daily basis.

CHALLENGES
The #FeesMustFall initiative impacted our 
targets for student and university chapters. 
We hope the dust will settle during 2017, 
as this continues to be a market we are 
prioritising. SAIPA is focused on growing our 
student membership.

Another challenge is the alignment between 
Board and the regional strategies. At present, 
the Board’s strategies are not known by the 

regions and the two do not complement 
each other. We are waiting for the Terms of 
Reference to be approved by the Board.

HEADING FORWARD
As we move into 2017, SAIPA is proud to 
celebrate 35 years of professional accounting. 
We will be sharing this occasion with our 
members at our National Conference in 
Cape Town in October 2017. This will be a 
recurring theme in all our marketing efforts. 

SAIPA is always looking at benefits for our 
members and we are in negotiations with a 
number of leading South African brands to 
bring exclusive offers to members in 2017.

Some of the key projects for 2017 include:

• The SAIPA Annual Budget Breakfast
•   Phase two of the Brand Ambassador 

Campaign
• SAIPA National Accounting Olympiad
• 35 Year National Conference 
• Tax Thesis competition
• Project Achiever 

Bongani Coka
Chief Executive

Chief Executive’s Report

+
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STRATEGY
The Strategic Committee (Stratcom) consists 
of Board members, the Chief Executive and 
management that meet once a year to review 
and update the strategy. The Board approves 
the strategy.

The four critical success factors of the  
Institute have been aligned to the 
constitutional objectives in an effort to 
ensure that the best interests of the Institute 
remain paramount. 

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTOR 1: 
To secure the growth and transformation 
of SAIPA

SAIPA is committed to shaping the development 
of the profession and contributing to its growth 
and transformation. This includes attracting 
new members and retaining members, while 
transforming the landscape of professional 
accountants in the country.

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTOR 2: 
To strengthen SAIPA’s relationships with all 
national and international stakeholders

SAIPA’s participation in the profession and 
access to the market requires ongoing efforts 
to forge new relationships and develop 
existing relationships. Our relationships unlock 
opportunities for strategic partnerships, 
collaborations and championing the interests 
of the profession.  

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTOR 3: 
To enhance the capacity and 
professionalism of members and staff

SAIPA provides opportunities for members 
to develop and remain at the forefront in 
a competitive market. We are positioning 
SAIPA as an employer of choice, to attract 
the best talent and engage them to deliver 
exceptional performance.

CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTOR 4: 
To ensure compliance and sustainability of 
our members and the Institute

As a professional accountancy body, 
SAIPA and members are required to satisfy 
compliance imperatives. We strive to 
remain relevant, create value and ensure 
sustainability. Through accreditations, cont-
inuous professional development (CPD) and 
alternative revenue streams, we will be well 
positioned in a changing environment. 

ASTON WHITE
SAIPA Brand Ambassador 2016, 
Professional Accountant (SA) 
and SAIPA member.

SAIPA articles really moulded 
me as an accountant. I 
quickly realised that being an 
accountant isn’t just about 
number crunching. I found 
myself learning people skills, 
as well as getting a clear 
picture of what it means 
to work in a South African 
finance context. I’ve attended 
many of the Continuous 
Professional Development 
courses and they are always 
helpful and well-grounded in 
the South African accounting 
landscape. I think if you’re 
young and in search of your 
ideal career path, you  
should look no  
further than SAIPA.
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regions and 
DISTRICTS

association

Port Elizabeth
Cape Town

CENTRAL

 Region
 District

George

Bloemfontein
Kimberley

Klerksdorp

Kroonstad

Pietermaritzburg

Newcastle

Kokstad
Port Shepstone

Durban

Richards Bay

Springbok

Vredendal

Saldanha

Worcester

Boksburg

Jacaranda
Nelspruit

Polokwane

Florida
SAIPA NATIONAL OFFICE – Johannesburg

WESTERN SOUTHERN

EASTERN

NORTHERN

Today we look back at the change brought 
by the old guise, when at the end of 2013, 
the new regional and district structures were 
finalised for implementation. 

Our commitment still remains to bring the  
Institute to you, our member, in ensuring 
delivery of differentiated services, and 
addressing the diverse needs of all our 
members. Part of this is identifying and 
establishing new districts to serve more 
members locally.

In 2016 we focused on assisting the districts 
in aligning their local strategy with the 
Institute’s, and believe this paves the way for 
future successes.

National Office has to rely heavily on the 
dedication and volunteering of the various 

chairmen and their supporting committee 
members. They are the ones who identify 
the needs, organise local events and assist 
National Office to offer professional national 
events. In the words of Robin Sharma, 
“Change is hard at first, messy in the middle 
and gorgeous at the end”. 

We pay tribute to and thank our chairmen 
and committees for their efforts in 2016 as we 
now reap the rewards.

The map below indicates our established 
regions. Looking forward to 2017, we have 
identified districts that will be established. 
They are Middleburg (Northern Region) and 
Cradock (Southern Region).
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THE BOARD
The role of the Board is to manage the affairs of the Institute and to oversee, collaborate 
with, support and offer constructive challenge to the CE and the CE’s management 
team, to ensure that agreed policies are delivered, and that the affairs of the Institute 
are conducted in a way that is conducive to the attainment of the objectives set forth in 
the Constitution, this being the ultimate responsibility of the Board. The Board also has 
the responsibility to ensure that the Institute operates in a transparent and sustainable 
environment and that it has an effective and appropriate corporate governance structure. 

The Board currently has 11 members and the Chief Executive is an ex officio member. 

BOARD COMPOSITION AND ATTENDANCE OF BOARD MEETINGS

1 Acting Chief Executive until 30 June 2016,  2 Chief Executive appointed 1 July 2016,  3 Resigned from office as at 31 August 2016,  
4 Term ended 2 June 2016,  5 Observer 

GOVERNANCE

Name of Board Member Number of Meetings Attended Date of Appointment

Ms Cindy Dibete – Chairman 4/4 12 June 2013

Mr Muhammad Seedat – Vice Chairman 4/4 12 June 2013

Ms Faith Ngwenya1 2/2
Acting Chief Executive until  
30 June 2016

Mr Bongani Coka2 2/2 Appointed 1 July 2016

Mr Shreef Abass 3/4 10 June 2015

Adv Jan Dijkman 2/2 Appointed 1 June 2016

Mr Shafiek Dollie 2/2 Appointed 1 June 2016

Mr Thami Kubheka4 4/4 30 May 2012

Ms Kantha Naicker 4/4 10 June 2015

Ms Nontobeko Ntsinde4 3/4 7 November 2013

Mr Altaaf Parker 4/4 13 March 2012

Mr Philip Pieterse 4/4 10 June 2015

Mr Avhashoni Ramikosi 4/4 10 March 2014

Ms Vuyelwa Sangoni3 3/4 7 November 2013

Mr Benjamin Tamba4 4/4 23 August 2011

Mr Yaeesh Yasseen 4/4 10 June 2015

Mr Richard Ludwig5 2/2 Observer until 1 June 2016

Mr Frank Moormann5 2/2 Observer since 24 August 2016 
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MMAMELAO MOIRA MALAKALAKA
SAIPA Brand Ambassador 2016, Professional 
Accountant (SA), Senior Manager: Office 
Enablement at the Tax Ombud.

Whether you work in the public sector, 
or in corporate, SAIPA can turn your 
work experience into a professional 
qualification through SAIPA’s Project 
Achiever programme. This means you 
can do a range of functions including 
signing off on financial statements 
and SME audits and that’s something 
I’ve always been passionate about. 
The Professional Accountant (SA) 
designation also means that  
you are NQF Level 8 certified.
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implementation on strategic and operational 
matters. Exco meets once per quarter and a 
full report is submitted to the Chairman of 
the Board, as well as the Board, following 
each meeting. 

Audit and Risk Committee

The primary role of the Audit and Risk 
Committee (“the ARC”) is to assist the Board 
in discharging its responsibility with regards 
to oversight of risk management, governance 
and internal control including financial 
reporting, monitoring financial controls and 
reporting within the organisation, managing 
risks including information technology risks, 
and compliance with laws and regulations. 
The ARC, in carrying out its duties, has due 
regard to the principles of governance and 
code of best practice contained in the King 
III report.

Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee

The Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee assists the Board in the effective 
discharge of its responsibilities in ensuring 
that SAIPA has a human resources strategy 
aligned to the overall business strategy, has 
remuneration policies and practices that are 
observed and that enable it to attract and 
retain executives who will create value for 
SAIPA and that SAIPA, fairly and responsibly 
rewards executives having regard to the 
performance of SAIPA, the performance of 
the executive and the external remuneration 
environment. The Committee further ensures 
that all policies and practices of SAIPA are 
in line with relevant legislation and best 
practice. 

Nominations Committee

The primary function of the Nominations 
Committee (“Nomcom”) as set out in its 
Board approved terms of reference is to:

•  recommend candidates for election or 
appointment to the SAIPA Board (“the 

BOARD COMMITTEES
As per the Constitution, the Board has  
appointed the following five standing 
Committees: Executive Committee, Human 
Resources and Remuneration Committee, 
Social and Ethics Committee, Nominations 
Committee, as well as the Audit and Risk 
Committee. 

The five standing sub-committees assist in 
exercising its authority, however the Board 
retains ultimate authority. Notwithstanding 
the establishment of the various committees, 
the Board reserves for itself a range of key 
matters to ensure that it retains proper 
direction and control of SAIPA.

All Chairmen of the Board Committees are 
Non-Executive members with the exception 
of the Executive Committee (per below), 
which is chaired by the Chief Executive. The 
Board is satisfied, for the reporting period 
that all Board Committees have discharged 
their duties. The Board Committees operate 
under Board approved Terms of References. 
Furthermore, following each Committee 
meeting the Board receives a full report 
on the decisions taken at each Committee 
meeting. 

Executive Committee

The primary role of Executive Committee 
(“Exco”) is to provide support and assistance 
to the Chief Executive on advice and 

Board”) and the following committees 
of SAIPA, namely the Exco, ARC, the 
Investigation Committee, the Disciplinary 
Committee, the Appeal Committee, 
as well as the Board Chairman and 
Board Deputy Chairman and such other 
committees as the Board may from time 
to time determine;

•  recommend candidates for appointment 
as CE of SAIPA;

•  establish and operate a process of 
continual assessment and review of the 
profile, membership and needs of the 
Board and of the committees referred to 
above, with due regard for the need for 
diversity, racial and gender equality and 
sound corporate governance prescribed 
in the Constitution;

•  identify and recommend for election 
or appointment on the basis of the 
assessment and review process referred 
to above those individuals it considers 
best qualified, in terms of their skills, 
competences and other qualities, to 
contribute to the work of the Board and/or 
Board committees under consideration, 
having regard to the established profile 
and needs thereof; and

•  offer periodic advice to the Board on the 
composition, profile and needs of the 
Board and Board committees within its 
purview.

Social and Ethics Committee

The primary role of the Social and Ethics 
Committee is to advise the Board on socio-
economic, economic development and 
ethical matters within the organisation that 
may have an impact on all stakeholders of 
SAIPA in ensuring the organisation remains 
a good corporate citizen. The Social and 
Ethics Committee performs its duties with 
due regard to principles of sound corporate 
governance. The Committee strives to, at all 
times, operate in a manner that is fair and 
transparent.

Governance

+
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ATTENDANCE OF BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

1 Acting Chief Executive until 30 June 2016,  2 Appointed Chief Executive 1 July 2016,  3 Resigned effective 31 August 2016,  4 Term of office expired 2 June 2016, 
5 Appointed 1 June 2016

Board Secretary

The Board Secretary assists the Board and its Committees in fulfilling their functions and is empowered by 
the Board to perform her duties. The Board Secretary also assists the Chairman and the Chief Executive in 
determining the annual board plan, Board and Board Committee agendas and in formulating governance 
and board related matters. In addition, the Board Secretary also creates awareness to the Board, Committee 
members and Executive Management on relevant legislation and other corporate governance regulations. 

On 1 September 2016, Ayanda Mabida was appointed as the SAIPA in-house Board Secretary. It lends further 
credence to the fact that SAIPA is committed to ensuring that the highest corporate governance principles 
are applied. The Board Secretary is not a member of the Board and acts independently from the Board, 
maintaining an arm’s length relationship. In line with good corporate governance principles the Board Secretary 
is appointed and removed by the Board. 

NUMBER OF MEETINGS HELD

Committee Member Executive 
Committee

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Human 
Resources and 
Remuneration 

Committee

Nominations 
Committee

Social and Ethics 
Committee

Ms Cindy Dibete 4/4 4/4

Mr Muhammad Seedat 4/4

Ms Faith Ngwenya1 2/2 2/2 2/2 0/2 2/2

Mr Bongani Coka2 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/2 2/2

Mr Shreef Abass 4/4

Mr Thami Kubheka4 2/2

Ms Kantha Naicker 4/4

Ms Nontobeko Ntsinde4 2/2 2/2

Mr Altaaf Parker 4/4

Mr Philip Pieterse 4/4 4/4

Mr Avhashoni Ramikosi 3/3

Ms Vuyelewa Sangoni3 3/3

Mr Benjamin Tamba4 2/2

Mr Yaeesh Yasseen 1/3

Adv Jan Dijkman5 2/2 2/2

Mr Shafiek Dollie5 2/2

INDEPENDENT NON-BOARD MEMBERS

Ms Shirley Bahula-Ermias 2/3

Mr Charl de Kock 3/3

Ms Romeshni Govender 2/3

Ms Shirley Olsen 4/4

Mr Joseph Tshiwilowilo 4/4

Ms Parmi Natesan 4/4

Prof Leon van Vuuren 3/4

Prof Deon Rossouw 3/4
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Back row from left to right: Yaeesh Yasseen, Altaaf Parker, Philip Pieterse, Shreef Abass, Bongani Coka (Chief Executive),  
Shafiek Dollie, Adv Jan Dijkman, Muhammad Seedat (Vice Chairman), Frank Moormann (Observer), Avhashoni Ramikosi 

Front row from left to right: Vuyelwa Sangoni, Kantha Naicker, Cindy Dibete (Chairman), Faith Ngwenya (Acting Chief  
Executive until June 2016)
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CINDY DIBETE (41) 
CHAIRMAN
National Diploma in Cost and Management 
Accounting with Business Communication 
for non-degree purposes; Professional 
Accountant (SA). Basic (foundation) coaching 
certificate; currently studying towards a 
Master’s in Business Administration with 
Henley. 

Board Committees: 
• Chairman – Executive Committee
• Chairman – Nomination Committee

Professional Profile 
As founder and CEO of D’bete Professional 
Accountants, Cindy has a proven record 
of enterprise systems development. This 
has enabled her to assist entrepreneurs, 
at a strategic level, to better manage their 
businesses. As a Professional Accountant 
(SA), she continues to lead initiatives that 
have contributed towards increased profits, 
productivity and value preservation within 
these entities. 

Motivated by ethical behaviour and 
understanding administration as a backbone 
of any entity’s good performance, Cindy 
started and led an accounting practice 
realising year-on-year growth while advancing 
a team of specialists from trainee status. The 
same now affords her time to dedicate to 
other projects investing her time for greater 
good. She introduced Corporate Governance 
within her practice and gained business and 
respect from companies such as iBurst Africa, 

Wits Enterprise and Wits Business School to 
name a few.

Cindy is able to build highly motivated 
management teams that are focused on 
achieving revenue goals through innovative 
models. She keeps up to date with changes in 
the industry through continuing professional 
development and participating in industry 
forums and initiatives.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Chairman and Board Member of the 

Finance Committee of the Polokwane 
Housing Association

• Director: D’bete Group of Companies

MUHAMMAD SEEDAT (34) 
VICE CHAIRMAN

Professional Profile 
Muhammad, a Professional Accountant 
(SA), matriculated from Durban High School 
(DHS) and completed articles with PKF 
whilst concurrently attaining a Bachelor 
of Commerce (Accounting) degree from 
University of South Africa (Unisa). During this 
time he served as Chairman of the D&D CA 
Students’ Society amongst other leadership 
roles within and external of the firm.

On completion of his articles, Muhammad 
joined Ernst & Young (E&Y) within Business 
Risk Services before being headhunted in a 
Financial Director role. He was appointed to 
E&Y as Senior Associate before re-locating to 

London as a Financial Analyst for a London 
Stock Exchange listed concern. On his return 
to South Africa he founded a Management 
Consulting and Accountancy practice, 
Smartrac which has grown in leaps and 
bounds both organically and by acquisition, 
spreading the presence nationally.

In addition to current directorships and 
offices below, Muhammad has memberships 
with Association of Black Accountants of 
South Africa (ABASA), Black Management 
Forum (BMF), Institute of Business Advisors 
(IBA), and Minara Chamber of Commerce. He 
further sits as a board adviser to both private 
and non-profit concerns. Muhammad is also 
an entrepreneur with proven track record. 
His extensive past leadership roles have not 
been listed.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Group Managing Director: Smartrac 
•  Board Member and Chair of 

Remuneration Committee: Institute of 
Directors (IoD)

•  Vice President: Finance, Board Member 
and Council Member: Durban Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry (DCCI)

• Trustee: The Endangered Wildlife Trust
• Member: Supersmart-E-Solutions CC
• Director: Yusuf Jamal Inc.
• Director: MBS Accounting Solutions
• Director: Ice Edge Consulting (Pty) Ltd
•  Lead Independent Non-Executive 

Director: KwaZulu-Natal Cricket Union
•  Director: Ice Edge Grey Matters Training 

(Pty) Ltd
• CEO: New World Communications
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•  Chairman of the KwaZulu-Natal Regional 
Executive of the South African Institute 
of Professional Accountants (SAIPA) 

•  Member of the KwaZulu-Natal Executive 
of Institute of Directors (IoD)

•  Board member of the South African 
National Halaal Authority (SANHA)

• Director: Claverton Hall Body Corporate
•  Chairman: Cygnet School Governing 

Body
•  Governor of the Board: Durban 

Preparatory High School (DPHS)
•  Executive committee member of 

Association of Muslim Accountants and 
Lawyers (AMAL)

•  Member of SARS KwaZulu-Natal  
Regional Professional Bodies 
Stakeholders Committee

KANTHA NAICKER (43)
B.Compt (Hons) 

Board Committees: 
•  Human Resources and Remuneration 

Committee 
• Social and Ethics Committee 

Professional Profile 
Kantha is the joint managing director of 
Evolve Accounting based in Westville in 
Durban. Evolve is a merger of her own 
practice of 15 years with that of a fellow SAIPA 
member and was launched in March 2016. 

In addition to running her own successful 
accounting practice, Kantha is currently  
serving her second term as a Board member 
of the South African Institute of Professional 
Accountants (SAIPA). She has served on 
the Regional structures of SAIPA and is 
currently the Vice Chairman of the EThekwini  
District Association. Other positions held  
regionally include Regional Chair, Convention 

Convenor, Convention Speaker’s portfolio 
and SAIPA regional student’s forum. Kantha 
currently serves on the Education, Public 
Sector and Transformation committees, 
was Chairman of the Marketing and 
Communications Committee (2010-2011) 
and is currently the Chair of the Technical 
Committee.

A member of the SMME Committee of the 
Durban Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
she also serves as an invited member to 
the Chamber Council. An advocate of the 
importance of SMMEs to our economic 
development, she was a speaker at the 
SMME Conference hosted by the Durban 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry in 2012. 
In addition to holding membership of the 
Institute of Directors, Kantha also volunteers 
her time as a Trustee of the United World 
Colleges (UWC) Scholarship Trust of South. 
Kantha’s many achievements culminated 
in a nomination to represent South Africa 
at the Stars Symposium in Stein Am Rhein, 
Switzerland, in September 2012. 

A registered assessor and moderator, 
she continues to conduct monitoring and 
evaluation visits to SAIPA Approved Training 
Centres, thereby ensuring that the sector 
acquires graduates of a high standard. Kantha 
has been an invited speaker at numerous 
events, conferences and fora. In 2014 Kantha 
was asked to join a task team that would 
look at the professionalisation of the BEE 
sector. The culmination of months of work 
saw the establishment of the Association 
of BEE Professionals (ABP) in 2015, where 
Kantha serves as a Board member. In May 
2015 Kantha accepted a request to serve on 
the Siwela Sonke Dance Theatre Board. This 
position is pro-bono. 

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Invited Council Member – Durban 

Chamber of Commerce and Industry
•  Board Member – Siwela Sonke Dance 

Theatre
•  Board Member – Association for BEE 

Professionals
•  Trustee – United World Colleges 

Scholarship Trust of South Africa

AVHASHONI RAMIKOSI (43)
Bachelor of Commerce (UCT); Bachelor of 
Commerce Honours Certified Theory of 
Accounting (UNISA); Chartered Accountant 

(SA); Higher Diploma in Tax Law (RAU); 
Higher Diploma in International Tax Law.

Board Committees: 
•  Chairman – Audit and Risk Committee 

and member of the committee

Professional Profile 
Avhashoni is currently the Chief Financial 
Officer for the South African Police Service 
(SAPS). He was a Director at SekelaXabiso 
responsible for Business Consulting; and has 
also worked for the South African Revenue 
Service as a Senior Manager responsible 
for audit operations. Other positions held 
include: Standard Bank of SA Limited in their 
Structured Debt Finance environment on 
project and structured finance transactions; 
CFO for Vharanani Properties, and Mapitsi 
Civil Works. Avhashoni completed his articles 
of traineeship with PricewaterhouseCoopers 
in 1998.

Avhashoni was President of the Association 
for the Advancement of Black Accountants 
in South Africa (ABASA) from 2004 to 2006 
where he served on a number of structures at 
branch and national level. He was a member 
of the board for the South African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (SAICA) in the same 
period and has also served on committee 
structures at the Independent Regulatory 
Board of Auditors (IRBA). He lectures on 
directors’ responsibilities in terms of the 
Companies Act, the common law and the 
King Code on Corporate Governance.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Board member of VBS Mutual Bank and 

chairman of Audit and Risk Committee
•  Member of the Council for the University 

of Limpopo from 2004-2008; and a 
member of finance and audit committee

PHILIP PIETERSE (44)
B. Com (Hons) (UPE/NMMU); Adv. Cert. 
Taxation (Unisa); Professional Accountant 
(SA)

Professional Profile 
Philip is currently a director and co-owner 
of PFG & Associates, an accounting and tax 
services provider based in Port Elizabeth, 
serving clients nationwide. The practice 
was established almost 25 years ago by 
the founding partner who passed away 
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in 2012. Philip joined the practice in 2006 
and the business has since expanded 
and was rebranded to PFG during 2012. 
The practice currently employs 11 staff 
and serves a large number of individual 
and corporate clients with a variety of 
services including accounting, taxation, 
trust creation, estate planning, secretarial 
services and is involved in the financial and 
investment field through an associate FSB 
accredited company. PFG also offers a more 
value added service to some of their clients 
by serving as business advisors, company 
secretary, debtor and creditor management 
and some operational activities.

Philip is involved in other ventures with 
his partner (and others) in PFG relating to 
property investment, special individual tax 
services and procurement services.

Prior to joining PFG, Philip was group 
financial accountant at Rocklands Poultry in 
Uitenhage, part of listed concern Sovereign 
Foods, ran his own tax services sole 
proprietorship as well as serving his articles 
at Rand Merchant Bank and Arthur Andersen 
(prior to the Enron scandal).

His educational background includes 
completing his B.Comm (Hons) at the 
University of Port Elizabeth (now NMMU), 
and a Postgraduate Certificate in Advanced 
Taxation (UNISA). Part of his honours  
degree was completed in the Netherlands  
as part of an exchange programme.

Philip is currently the Chairman of the South-
ern Region for SAIPA, and Treasurer for the 
Kwagga branch of the South African Hunters 
and Game Conservation Association. Philip 
also serves on the Nominations and Social 
and Ethics Committees of the SAIPA Board .

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Social and Ethics Committee
•  Nominations Committee

VUYELWA SANGONI (34)
Certificate of Theory in Accounting (CTA) 
(University of KwaZulu-Natal); Bachelor 
of Accounting Degree in Accounting 
(University of Cape Town)

Board Committees: 
•  Chairman – Human Resources and  

Remuneration Committee

Professional Profile 
Vuyelwa graduated from University of Cape 
Town and qualified as a Chartered Accountant 
in 2009 after serving articles at Deloitte & 
Touche. She spent six years at Deloitte & 
Touche, and in 2013 was appointed as a 
Partner in their Financial Services division.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  The Association for the Advancement 

of Black Accountants of Southern Africa 
(ABASA)

ALTAAF PARKER (50)
B Compt (Hons)

Board Committees: 
•  Member of the SAIPA Board
•  Served on Exco
•  Member of SAIPA Western Region 

Association
•  Served the WRA for over 15 years, 

having Chaired it for a two year term
•  Represents SAIPA WRA at the SARS 

Western Cape Stakeholders Forum

Professional Profile 
Altaaf is a registered Professional Accoun-
tant (SA) and is the sole member of A Parker 
& Associates CC, providing accounting and 
tax services, based in Cape Town. He com-
pleted his auditing articles with M Brey and 
Associates CA (SA).

NONTOBEKO M NTSINDE (59)
B. Proc (FH), MBA (Wits)

Board Committees: 
•  Chairman – Social and Ethics Committee
•  Human Resources and Remuneration 

Committee

Professional Profile 
Nontobeko is an independent and non-
executive director.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Trustee – GEMS
• Member – UKZN Council

YAEESH YASSEEN (32)
B.Com (Acc) (Wits); B.Com (Hons) (Wits); 
MCom (Acc) (Wits); Professional Accountant 
(SA); CIA (USA)

Board Committees: 
•  Audit and Risk Committee

Professional Profile 
Yaeesh is a Senior Lecturer and Head of 
the Accounting Division in the School 
of Accountancy at the University of the 
Witwatersrand. He is currently reading 
towards his PHD in Finance and Accounting; 
while coordinating the Masters of Commerce 
in Accountancy programme at Wits. He 
previously coordinated the Higher Diploma 
in Computer Auditing at Wits; and has 
served as an external examiner for a number 
of South African universities on their under-
graduate and post-graduate offerings.

Yaeesh served his articles at Ernst & Young 
and is a Professional Accountant (SA). He has 
been an executive member of the Accounting 
Practices Board and is a panel member of 
the South African Institute of Professional 
Accountant’s (SAIPA) Accreditation and 
Examinations Committee. Yaeesh lectures 
the Professional Accountant (SA) Evaluation 
Preparation (PE) course; and has presented 
technical updates as well as academic 
papers at a number of local and international 
conferences. 

He is a member of the SAIPA accreditation 
team, which assess the programmes and 
accredit universities on an ongoing basis 
– he was part of the review team that 
provided a quality review of the Cape 
Peninsula University of Technology for their 
programmes offered in the department of 
Accountancy. 

Yeesh has also served as an accounting 
expert for the Centre for Higher Education 
in Lesotho where he was part of a review 
team that evaluated franchise accounting 
qualifications offered in Lesotho. More 
recently he was appointed to the academic 
advisory board for the Da Vinci Institute and 
to the board of SAIPA. He is an experienced 
academic with eight years of experience 
in accounting education and syllabus 
development.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Academic advisory board Da Vinci 

Institute (current)
• Accounting Practices Board (past)
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PETROS (THAMI) T KUBHEKA (41) 
ND Accounting; Certificate Financial 
Management and Certificate in 
Accountancy; Professional Accountant (SA)

Board Committees: 
• Executive Committee

Professional Profile 
Thami is currently the CEO of Khathide 
Consulting (Pty) Ltd. He served his articles 
with KPMG, and was the acting CFO and 
Finance Manager of Brand South Africa.

Prior to this, Thami was as CFO of National 
Arts Council, to which he was appointed 
within three months of joining National Arts 
Council. Through hard work, he managed to 
improve the audit opinion from an adverse to 
a qualification audit opinion. He laid a good 
foundation and implemented systems which 
resulted in an unqualified audit opinion for 
the subsequent year.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Msunduzi Museum and Ncome Museum: 

Council member and Audit Committee 
member

•  National Arts Council: Council member, 
Exco member and Audit and Risk 
Committee Chairman

BENJAMIN TAMBA (47)
B.Com (Acc) (Damelin)

Board Committees: 
• Non-Executive board member 

Professional Profile 
Benjamin is a full-time National Payroll 
Manager at Servest Cleaning, a division of 
Servest (Pty) Ltd, a position he has held since 
2013. Prior to joining Servest, he worked as 
a Management Accountant at Tata Africa 
Steel Processors (Pty) Ltd, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Tata Africa (Pty) Ltd (2008-
2013). He also worked as an accountant for a 
number of medium sized organisations such 
as Misha Projects and Engineering, Liteworks 
Technical Training and Education, and 
the South African Institute of Professional 
Accountants. In addition, he worked as an 
Accounts Clerk at Damelin Education Group, 
at which he studied and received his Bachelor 
of Commerce in Accounting degree, and 
other certificates.

Benjamin has a passion for teaching and 
training, which he has been practising 
mainly at Damelin Management School 
since 2004, focusing on accounting related 
short courses on the NQF levels 4 and 5. 
He has also completed a three year SAIPA 
learnership with Definitive Solutions as 
a Trainee Accountant; and also acted as 
the external assessor and moderator for 
several accredited providers and one prof-
essional institute for payroll administration, 
accounting and bookkeeping. 

As a management and business consultant, 
Benjamin has advised clients in the areas of 
financial management and budgeting, rec-
onciliation and control of fixed assets and the 
implementation of accounting policies and 
procedures.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Partner at Definitive Accounting 

Solutions

SHREEF ABASS (60)
BA (UCT); BEd (UCT); MBA (Hull); 
CM (SA) (IMM)

Board Committees: 
• Social and Ethics Committee

Professional Profile 
Shreef is presently the Executive Chairman of 
Spice Mecca (Pty) Limited. He has extensive 
experience in the food manufacturing sector; 
and has been involved with the importation 
of raw materials for manufacturing, as well 
as the importation of specialised agricultural 
products. Shreef also exports foodstuffs 
mainly to the SADC countries. 

He is very active in the industrialisation space 
and is currently involved with the setting up 
of Halaal Industrial Parks.

Shreef started his career as an educationalist 
and spent 16 years teaching at secondary and 
tertiary levels. Currently he leads a team of 
dynamic professionals who have established 
and run pre-schools and primary schools 
with a multi-faceted curriculum based on 
high ethics, character building and lay the 
foundation for learners to be global citizens.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Executive Chairman – Spice Mecca  

(Pty) Ltd

•  Chairman – International Peace College 
of South Africa NPC

•  Chairman – JEQ – Institute for the 
Memorisation of the Quraan

•  Board Member – Faure Development 
Trust

•  Board Member – Yusuf Booley 
Foundation

SHAFIEK DOLLIE (63)
Professional Accountant (SA); Bachelor 
of Accounting Science (B.Compt) (Unisa); 
National Higher Diploma in Education  
(HDE) (UCT) 

Board Committees: 
•  Human Resources and Remuneration 

Committee

Professional Profile 
Shafiek is a Professional Accountant (SA) 
with a particular interest in education, 
training and development of aspiring 
accountants and professional accountants. 
Since he attended his first Coastal 
Workshop in Port Elizabeth in 1995 he has 
been committed to, and actively involved 
with, assisting SAIPA achieve its strategic 
objective of “being the Professional 
Accountancy Organisation of Choice”. He 
has served the Institute at both regional 
and national level in various capacities. In 
the region he served two terms as chairman 
as well as on the regional convention 
committees. At national level he served 
on the then National Council as well as the 
following committees: audit (as chairman), 
education, disciplinary, transformation and 
the accounting olympiad.

As a FASSET-accredited assessor and 
moderator Shafiek conducts accreditation 
visits to SAIPA Accredited Training Centres 
(ATCs) as well as monitoring visits to 
trainees at theses ATCs. He is a facilitator 
at the FASSET Project Achiever Programme 
currently run by SAIPA.

During his working career Shafiek ran his 
own accounting, tax and management 
consulting practice. He served his articles at 
I Karro Meyer & Partners, was a high school 
teacher, progressing to HoD in Accounting, 
spent some time in the corporate world as an 
internal auditor and departmental manager 
at Woolworths, and as internal auditor and 
accountant at Metropolitan Life. He then 
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joined Peninsula Technikon in 1993 until 2014 
where he lectured in Accounting, Taxation, 
Internal Auditing and Cost and Management 
Accounting. During this time he spent two 
years lecturing at Prince Sultan College 
for Business and Tourism in Jeddah, Saudi 
Arabia. 

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Member of SAIPA Western Region 

Committee

ADV JAN DIJKMAN (57)
BA LLB LLM (UJ); H Dip Tax (Wits); Adv Dip 
Labour Law (UJ); Certified Ethics Officer 
(EO30)

Board Committees: 
•  Human Resources and Remuneration 

Committee
• Social and Ethics Committee

Professional Profile 
Jan is a non-practising Advocate of the 
High Court of South Africa and is the 30th 
Certified Ethics Officer in South Africa. He 
started his professional career as a lecturer 
in the Faculty of Law at the University of 
the Witwatersrand, before moving into 
commerce with Old Mutual. He then moved 
to the South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (SAICA) where he was the head 
of ethics and discipline for over 16 years. 
Concurrently, he was involved as a non-
executive director with a company which 
provided professional indemnity insurance 
to the Chartered Accountancy profession 
for 17 years, becoming an executive director 
and MD after leaving SAICA. He also served 
on the Audit and Risk Committee, and the 
Social and Ethics Committee of a large non-
listed South African company for the period 
2010 to 2014.

He is an independent legal and ethics  
consultant, concentrating on business and 
professional ethics, as well as corporate 
governance. Over the years, he has 
conducted many training sessions on 
Ethics, particularly professional ethics as it 
relates to the broader Accountancy and Tax 
professions, as well as Business Ethics.

For the past eight years, Jan has lectured 
the Diploma in Corporate Governance at 
the University of Johannesburg / Institute 
of Director’s, lecturing on directors’ 

responsibilities in terms of the Companies 
Act, the common law and the King Code on 
Corporate Governance.

FAITH NGWENYA (53)
Master of Accountancy (University of Natal); 
B.Com Honours (Unisa); B.Com (University of 
Zululand); Professional Accountant (SA)

Board Committees: 
•  Ex officio on all SAIPA Board committees
• Acting Chief Executive

Professional Profile 
Faith’s career started with Unilever SA in 
1987 where she held various positions. 
She joined Mangosuthu Technikon as a 
lecturer in 1995 until 2007, when she joined 
the University of Johannesburg as a senior 
lecturer in Accounting, a post she held 
until August 2010. She joined SAIPA as 
the Technical and Standards Executive in 
September 2010; and in August 2015, she 
was appointed the Acting Chief Executive 
of SAIPA.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Pan African Federation of Accountants 

(PAFA) board
• Edinburgh Group
•  PAFA Planning Human Capital and 

Finance Committee
• PAFA Standards Setters’ Forum
• Forum of Accounting Bodies
•  Johannesburg Chamber of Commerce 

and Industry board
•  Assurance and Guidance Committee of 

SAICA
• Association of BEE Professionals Board
• Joint Technical Committee of DTI

BONGANI COKA (57)
B.Compt (Unisa); B Compt Hons (Unisa); 
Higher Diploma in Tax Law (former  
RAU/UJ) 

Appointed as the Chief Executive of SAIPA 
on 1 July 2016

Professional Profile 
After earning a Bachelor of Accounting  
Science degree from the University of South 
Africa (Unisa) in 1988, and completing his 
articles at Deloitte & Touche, Bongani also 
earned his Bachelor of Accounting Science 
Honours degree from Unisa in 1994.

He most recently fulfilled the role of CEO at 
Productivity SA for five years, after having 
served as the organisation’s CFO for 10 
years. During his term as CEO, Bongani 
was instrumental in the incorporation of 
Productivity SA in the Skills Development 
Act, and in drafting the Business Case and 
the Constitution for the organisation.

Adding to his professional experience is 
Bongani’s previous board memberships 
including Chairman of the board of the 
Audit Committee of the South African Police 
Services; Board Secretary General of Pan 
African Productivity Association (PAPA); and 
committee member of both the Work Place 
Challenge Joint Committee, and the Social 
Plan Joint Committee. 

He also worked as a tutor at Unisa where he 
lectured accounting for attorneys, taxation 
and auditing for the under graduates 
between 1987 and 1997.

He has chaired the Adjudication Committee 
of South African Premier awards for 2015 and 
2016.

Other directorships/Board memberships:
•  Pan African Federation of Accountants 

(PAFA) – Board 
•  Pan African Federation of Accountants 

(PAFA) – Planning Human Capital and 
Finance Committee (PHCFC)

•  Pan African Federation of Accountants 
(PAFA) – Audit and Risk Committee 
(ARC)

•  International Federation of Accountants 
(IFAC) – Represent SAIPA as a Council 
Member

•  Recently accepted as a Committee 
Member at the King Committee of 
Governance in South Africa 
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•   Bongani Coka 

(Chief Executive)

•  Yusuf Mahomedy  

(Chief Operations Officer)

•  Darren Gorton  

(Finance Executive)

•  Faith Ngwenya  

(Technical and Standards Executive)

•  Professor Rashied Small 

(Education, Training and Membership 

Executive)

•  Zobuzwe Ngobese 

(Marketing and Communications Executive)

•  Ragiema Thokan-Mahomed 

(Senior Manager: Legal, Ethics and 

Compliance)

•  Laetitia
 Lourens 

(Senior Manager: M
ember Relations)
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 risk committee

REPORT
We are pleased to present the report of the Audit and 
Risk Committee (“The Committee”) of SAIPA for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2016.

THE COMMITTEE CHARTER
The Committee has adopted a formal Charter that 
has been approved by the Board. The Committee has 
conducted its affairs in compliance with this mandate 
and has discharged its responsibilities contained 
therein.

COMPOSITION AND MEMBERSHIP
The Committee consists of the following members:

• Avhashoni Ramikosi, Chairman and Board member
• Yaeesh Yasseen, Board member
• Charl de Kock, independent member
• Shirley Bahula-Ermias, independent member
• Romeshni Govender, independent member

The Board Secretary, Mr Mzolisi Nkumanda, provided 
secretarial services. Ms Ayanda Mabida took over from 
Mr Nkumanda on 1 September 2016.

audit &
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and regulatory requirements for the 
appointment of an auditor;

•  approved the external audit engagement 
letter, the audit plan and the budgeted 
audit fees payable to the external 
auditors;

•  determined the nature and extent of 
all non-audit services provided by the 
independent auditors and pre-approved 
all non-audit services undertaken; where 
applicable;

•  obtained assurances from the independent 
auditors that adequate accounting records 
were being maintained; and

•  confirmed that no reportable irregula-
rities had been identified or reported 
by the independent auditors under the 
Auditing Professions Act; and confirmed 
no scope limitations and combined 
assurance considered with the work 
conducted by Internal Audit.

The Committee is satisfied that Nexia SAB&T 
is independent of the Institute after taking 
the following factors into account:

•  representations made by Nexia SAB&T to 
the Committee;

•  the auditors do not, except as external 
auditors or in rendering permitted non-
audit services, receive any remuneration 
or other benefit from SAIPA;

•  the auditors’ independence was not 
impaired by any consultancy, advisory or 
other work undertaken;

•  the auditors’ independence was not 
prejudiced as a result of any previous 
appointment as auditors; and

•  the criteria specified for independence 
by the Independent Regulatory Board 
for Auditors and international regulatory 
bodies.

ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT 
The Committee fulfils an oversight role 
regarding SAIPA’s Annual Integrated Report 
and the reporting process, including the 
systems of internal financial controls. It 
is responsible for ensuring that SAIPA’s 
internal audit function is independent and 
has the necessary resources, standing and 

PURPOSE, ROLES AND 
RESPONSIBILITIES
The purpose of the Committee is to review 
and recommend governance policies and 
oversee fraud risk. The Committee further:

•  assists the Board in discharging its duties 
relating to the safeguarding of assets, 
the operation of adequate systems, 
control and reporting processes, and the 
preparation of accurate reporting and 
financial statements in compliance with 
the applicable legal requirements and 
accounting standards;

•  oversees the activities of, and ensures  
co-ordination between, internal and 
external audit;

•  provides a forum for discussing finan-
cial, enterprise-wide, market, regulatory, 
safety and other risks and control issues; 
and to monitor controls designed to 
minimise these risks;

•  reviews SAIPA’s Annual Integrated Report, 
including the separate annual financial 
statements and any other public reports 
or announcements containing financial 
information;

•  receives and deals with any complaints 
concerning the accounting practices, 
internal and external audit or the content 
and audit of its financial statements or 
related matters; and

•  annually reviews the Committee’s work 
and Charter to make recommendations 
to the Board to ensure its effectiveness.

DUTIES CARRIED OUT
The Committee has performed its duties 
and responsibilities during the financial year 
according to its Charter.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
The Committee:

•  recommended Nexia SAB&T as auditors, 
and Aneel Darmalingam as the external 
auditor and designated audit partner, 
respectively to the members for  
appointment for the financial year ended 
31 December 2016, and ensured that 
the appointments complied with legal 

authority within the organisation to enable it 
to effectively discharge its duties. 

Furthermore, the Committee oversees  
co-operation between the internal and 
external auditors, and serves as a link 
between the Board and these functions.

The Committee has reviewed the annual 
financial statements of SAIPA and is satisfied 
that they comply in all material respects with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

The Committee:

•  confirmed, based on management’s 
review, that the interim and annual 
financial statements were prepared on 
the going concern basis;

•  examined the annual financial statements 
and other financial information made 
public, prior to their approval by the 
Board;

•  considered accounting treatments, 
significant or unusual transactions and  
accounting judgements;

•  considered the appropriateness of 
accounting policies and any changes 
made;

•  reviewed the representation letter 
relating to the annual financial statements, 
signed by management;

•  considered any problems identified as 
well as any legal and tax matters that 
could materially affect the financial 
statements; and

•  met separately with management, 
external audit and internal audit and 
satisfied themselves that no material 
control weakness exists.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Committee:

•  reviewed and approved the annual 
internal audit plans and evaluated 
the independence, effectiveness and 
performance of the internal audit 
function and found it satisfactory;

•  considered the reports of the internal 
auditors on SAIPA’s systems of internal 
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control including financial controls, 
business risk management, governance 
and maintenance of effective internal 
control systems;

•  received assurances that proper 
accounting records were maintained and 
that the systems safeguarded SAIPA’s 
assets against unauthorised use or 
disposal;

•  reviewed issues raised by internal audit 
and the adequacy of corrective action 
taken by management in response 
thereto; and 

•  concluded that there were no material 
breakdowns in internal controls.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS
Based on the results of the formal documented 
review of the design, implementation and 
effectiveness of SAIPA’s system of internal 
financial controls conducted by the internal 
audit function during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016 and, in addition, 
considering information and explanations 
given by management plus discussions held 
with the external auditor on the results of 
their audit, the Committee is of the opinion 
that SAIPA’s system of internal financial 
controls is effective and forms a basis for the 
preparation of reliable financial statements. 
No findings have come to the attention of 
the Committee to indicate that any material 
breakdown in internal controls has occurred 
during the financial year under review.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board has assigned oversight of 
SAIPA’s risk management function to the 
Committee. The Committee fulfils an 
oversight role regarding financial reporting 
risks, internal financial controls, fraud risk 
as it relates to financial reporting and 
information technology risks as it relates to 
the organisation.

The Committee:

•  reviewed SAIPA’s policies on risk 
management, including information 
technology risks and found them to be 
sound;

•  reviewed, with the assistance of 
management, legal matters that could 
have a material impact on SAIPA;

•  reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness 
of SAIPA’s procedures to ensure 
compliance with legal and regulatory 
responsibilities; and

•  considered reports provided by 
management, internal assurance providers 

and the independent auditors regarding 
compliance with legal and regulatory  
requirements.

COMBINED ASSURANCE
The Committee reviewed the plans and 
reports of the external and internal auditors 
and other assurance providers including 
management and concluded that these were 
adequate to address all significant financial 
risks facing the business.

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF THE 
FINANCE EXECUTIVE AND FINANCE 
FUNCTION
The Committee:

•  considered the appropriateness of the 
experience and expertise of SAIPA’s 
Finance Executive and concluded that 
this was appropriate; and

•  considered the expertise, resources and 
experience of the finance function and 
concluded that these were appropriate.

The Committee has considered, and has 
satisfied itself of the overall appropriateness 
of, the expertise and adequacy of resources 
of SAIPA’s finance function and experience 
of the senior members of management 
responsible for the financial function.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE AT 
MEETINGS
The Committee consists of two Board 
members and three independent, non-Board 
members. The Chief Executive, Finance  
Executive, Chief Operations Officer, internal 
auditors, external auditor and other assurance 
providers attend meetings by invitation. 

Attendance:

The names of the Committee members who 
were in office during the period January 2016 
to December 2016 and the details of the 
Committee meetings attended by each of 
the members are as follows:

RECOMMENDATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Following the review by the committee of the annual financial statements of SAIPA for the 
year ended 31 December 2016, the committee is of the view that, in all material respects, it 
complies with the relevant provisions of IFRS and fairly presents the financial position at that 
date, and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended. The committee 
has also satisfied itself as to the integrity of the remainder of the annual report.

Having achieved its objectives for the financial year, the committee recommended the annual 
financial statements and annual integrated report for the year ended 31 December 2016 for 
approval to the Board.

Avhashoni Ramikosi
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee

Audit Risk Committee Composition and Attendance of Audit Risk Committee Meetings

Member Number of Meetings 
Attended

Date of Appointment

Avhashoni Ramikosi 3/3 11 June 2014

Yaeesh Yasseen 1/3 10 June 2015

Shirley Bahula-Ermias 3/3 11 June 2014

Charl de Kock 3/3 11 June 2014

Romeshni Govender 2/3 11 June 2014
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ethics committee

REPORT
The Committee presents this report to 
describe how it has discharged its duties as 
informed by the Companies Act of 2008, as 
well as additional duties assigned to it by the 
Board in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2016.

MANDATE OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee derives its mandate from 
the Board of SAIPA, which is informed by the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008 and the King IV 
Report on Corporate Governance, both of 
which are being adopted voluntarily. 

ROLE AND FUNCTION OF THE 
SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Committee assists the Board in ensuring 
that SAIPA is, and remains, a good and 
responsible corporate citizen and to perform 
the functions required of a Social and Ethics 
Committee as informed by the Regulations in 
the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

The Social and Ethics Committee of SAIPA 
identified four domains, each with its own 
sub-categories, namely:

Workplace
Employment equity
Decent work
Employee health and safety
Education of employees

Marketplace
Economic development
Corruption prevention
B-BBEE

Social
Community development
Donations and sponsorships
Public health and safety
Member relationships

Environment
Environmental impact

COMPOSITION OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee is comprised of three 
SAIPA Board members and one contracted 
consultant:

Mr S Abass (Chairman)

Mr P Pieterse

Adv J Dijkman

Prof D Rossouw (consultant)

The SAIPA CE and other executive members 
of management, professional advisors and 
other Board and staff members may attend 
committee meetings on standing or specific 
invitations but are not allowed to vote.

THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE
The Committee’s work is governed by a 
Board approved Terms of Reference (TOR) 
which set out the mandate of the Committee, 
its roles and responsibilities and its authority. 
The TOR  is underpinned by an annual work-
plan that is design-led by our consultant 
to ensure that all matters falling under 
the Committee’s remit shall be dealt with 
expeditiously and appropriately. The Board 
reviews the TOR annually.

social&
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The main responsibility of the Committee 
is to monitor SAIPA’S activities as informed 
by the Company Regulations, other legal 
requirements and best practice with regards 
to the four domains mentioned above. In this 
regard, we shall discuss some of our planned 
initiatives and work programmes undertaken 
or overseen by the Committee in the year 
under review. 

KEY SUSTAINABILITY HIGHLIGHTS
In 2016 SAIPA adopted the Ten Principles 
of the UN Global Compact. Corporate 
sustainability starts with a company’s value 
system and a principled approach to 
conducting business. This means operating in 
ways that, at a minimum, meet fundamental 
responsibilities in the areas of human rights, 
labour, environmental and anti-corruption 
legislation.

In 2016 a steady transformation of 
membership took place with 391 black 
professional accountants out of a total of 
702 new members joining SAIPA.

In 2016, Faith Ngwenya (Technical and 
Standards Executive) was appointed to the 
Board of the Edinburgh Group, a coalition 
of 17 accountancy bodies from across the 
world, representing over 900,000 professional 
accountants. While the Edinburgh Group 
champions the interests of SMEs and SMPs, 
it also ensures that the development of the 
international accountancy profession meets 
the needs of its diverse stakeholders, thereby 
impacting the global economy.

The Social and Ethics Committee has 
transformed itself functionally, mainly 
through the expert guidance of Prof Deon 
Rossouw who has also commenced with the 
development of a reporting matrix which 
shows the indicators for each report item 
on the SEC annual work-plan. With this 
guidance, management now has a clear 
understanding of who reports, how it gets 
reported and where it shall be reported.

WORKPLACE
Human capital – developing our staff and 
members

The imperative of having a skilled, motivated, 
culturally diverse and productive workforce is 
fundamental to the transformation strategy 
of SAIPA.

The environment and support for staff 
development is evidenced by the 
qualification during 2016 of two staff 
members as Professional Accountants (SA). 
Further, a member of the tax department 
completed a post-graduate higher diploma 
in taxation from the University of Pretoria. 
Another staff member has been allowed to 
pursue a diploma in economics at university 
after completing a foundation course in lieu 
of matriculation requirements.

The Education, Training and Membership 
department has been extremely successful 
in adopting a methodological approach 
whereby it has moved its Continuous 
Professional Development (CPD) outcomes 
from a technically based to a competency-
based outcome. Competency based 
skills refer not only to critical thinking and 
analytical skills but also soft skills such as 
communication, confidence and self-esteem.
 
The introduction of the compulsory Ethics 
module into the CPD programme as well as 
the remodelling of the programme grew the 
attendance from 8,320 in 2015 to 11,449 in 
2016, making the programme both profitable 
and successful.

The Webinar CPD attendance grew from 
10,879 in 2015 to 13,000 in 2016. The 
design and the marketing of the Webinar 
programme have generated huge interest 
that will be further developed in 2017. 

The Finance SETA has funded the Project 
Achiever training programme to prepare 
trainees to write the qualifying examination 
to become Professional Accountants (SA). 
Over the last 18 months 380 Professional 
Accountants (SA) have graduated through 
SAIPA’s Project Achiever programme of which 
350 are black. This is a significant display of 
both transformation and black economic 
empowerment at play.

In November 2016, the work-plan and 
pilot study for the E Learning Platform 
was concluded with the launch planned 
for early 2017 to prepare trainees for the 
qualifying examination. The methodology 

to be applied here has a focused outcome 
of graduating professional accountants with 
critical thinking skills as opposed to only 
technical proficiency.

In 2016, a skills audit was undertaken and the 
plan is to address the identified gaps during 
2017.

Employee safety and well-being

SAIPA is committed to providing a safe 
working environment and to promote the 
health and well-being of its employees.

SAIPA has trained staff in first-aid and 
firefighting to ensure compliance with 
regulations. Two evacuation fire drills 
were done towards the end of 2016. Fire 
equipment is certified and checked yearly.

SAIPA subscribes to the Independent 
Counselling and Advisory Services (ICAS) 
with all staff being provided with counselling 
and an advisory service on request.

The staircases are potential incident points. 
It is recommended that safety features such 
as the ‘gripping’ and handrails be regularly 
monitored.

In 2016, all SAIPA staff were members of the 
Discovery Health Medical Aid Scheme. As 
members of the scheme they have access to 
support and advice on well-being and health 
issues.

Non-smoking signs are prevalent around the 
SAIPA building. A paraplegic parking bay 
was installed during 2016.

While the Health and Safety regulations are 
displayed in staff areas, it is recommended 
that a review of the health system and health 
policy of SAIPA be done in 2017.

Employment equity

The EE status is submitted annually to the 
Board, however there is an identified shortfall in 
diversity at some levels within the organisation. 
This is a matter that will be addressed in 
conjunction with the HR Committee. 

 
MARKETPLACE
Ethical conduct and corruption prevention

The release of King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance has gained currency with most 
Board members and executive managers 
who have attended workshops on the King 
IV, however, real implementation has still to 
be effected. A sustained training programme 
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on the principles on King IV must be 
implemented until visible and tangible 
results are achieved.

The compulsory introduction of two hours 
of ethics CPD for members has been very 
positive. Approximately 1,065 members 
attended the ethics CPD while 1,074 
members participated via webinar. The 
ethical dialogue created within the ethics 
CPD framework grounded the principles of 
integrity, professionalism and excellence. 
The culmination of this process has been 
the taking of the pledge by members who 
proudly voiced their commitment to the 
fundamental principles of the Professional 
Accountant (SA).

SAIPA has a system of querying ethical issues 
via an Ethics Mailbox. Its functionality and its 
efficacy have not yet been realised. Sustained 
training in this regard is important before the 
system will harvest real results.

To drive the ethical agenda within SAIPA, a 
number of Ethics Champions were appointed 
from amoung the staff. The concept of 
leading by example with transparency at 
all levels within the organisation holds us 
accountable for our actions and creates a 
positive ethical culture at SAIPA. The notion 
of doing the right thing even when no one is 
around seems to have gained resonance with 
the staff.

SAIPA has developed a whistle-blowing 
policy with an anonymous hotline managed 
by Be Heard – an independent service 
provider. The whistle-blowing hotline is 
certified by The Ethics Institute. 

The attendance of Board members, executive 
management and the Social and Ethics 
Committee members at the 6th Annual 
Ethics Conference in 2016 was extremely 
beneficial. Ethics training produces quality 
leaders, which is arguably the single most 
critical success factor for all organisations.

An ethical values workshop planned in 2016 
based on the principles of appreciative 
inquiry has since been completed. The recent 
workshop grounded the core values of SAIPA 
and laid the foundation for ethical conduct 
on the one hand and corruption prevention 
on the other hand.

Economic development

The SAP accounting software currently in use 
at SAIPA contains an Enterprise Resource 
Planning System, which, when running 

optimally would bring about efficiencies that 
would translate into economic development. 
It is recommended that functions such as 
CRM be integrated into our main software. 
This should be a management imperative in 
the short term.

 
B-BBEE

SAIPA presently does not have a favourable 
B-BBEE rating. It is imperative that SAIPA 
improves its rating during the course of 2017.

SAIPA has updated its Supply Chain Policy 
to subscribe to the recommendations as laid 
out in the B-BBEE code.

In 2016 SAIPA targeted 10 worthy black 
members in practice and waived all their CPD 
costs for the year, as a B-BBEE enterprise 
development initiative.  

The B-BBEE calculated score based on 
the criteria used is low and therefore 
management is tasked with providing a 
strategy to the Growth and Transformation 
Committee to ensure that continuous work is 
done to improve the B-BBEE rating. 

 
SOCIAL
Community development

During 2016 SAIPA members offered a free tax 
return service to all individuals in the Waterfall 
office park complex where SAIPA is based, as 
part of its community development. SAIPA 
will continue with its free tax return service 
and has specifically identified a children’s 
home as part of its community development. 
The Education and Training department has 
suggested that micro-economies such as 
flea markets should be on the community 
development lists of members. Accounting 
and governance support to school governing 
bodies and sports clubs should be on the 
horizon for 2017.

Donations and sponsorships

The Accounting Olympiad in 2009 attracted 
11,000 participants while in 2016 it attracted 
2,800 participants at a cost of R600 000. While 
it is important to profile SAIPA amongst its 
potential target market, we have to revisit 
the dynamics and system used in 2009 that 
allowed us to attract 11,000 participants at a 
fraction of the 2016 cost.

The top six achieving students in the National 
Accounting Olympiad were awarded prize 
money towards their 2017 university tuition 
fees. They were hosted at an exclusive 

awards evening on 12 October 2016 at the 
Johannesburg Country Club in Woodmead. 
Teachers and schools were also given prizes 
for work done on the Olympiad.

 
MINIMISING ENVIRONMENTAL 
IMPACT
SAIPA is committed to managing and 
minimising its negative impact on the 
environment. This initiative is called “Project 
Green”.

SAIPA has consulted with Ecometrix who has 
been the main consultant on environmental 
matters during the period under review.

Most of the carbon footprint projects 
recommended by the Project Green team 
such as solar panels, air-conditioning, 
paperless office and water-conservation have 
all been planned in 2016 with implementation 
in 2017, 2018 and 2019. 

The estimated cost of Project Green for 2017 
and 2018 amounts to R1.2 million and will 
have a slight positive impact on our carbon 
footprint. 

 
INTERACTION BETWEEN THE 
SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE 
AND OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES
The nature of the work done by the Social 
and Ethics Committee has relevance to the 
work done by other committees. Similar 
submissions may be made from the different 
committees. Thus, an integrated approach is 
adopted to ensure that overlaps are avoided 
as much as possible. 

CONCLUSION
The Committee in the main is satisfied that 
the Board and executive management have 
discharged their responsibilities satisfactorily 
as informed by the Act, the Constitution, the 
TOR, King IV and all matters falling within its 
ambit.  

Shreef Abass
Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee
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 investigation and 

DISCIPLINARY
committees

The Investigations Committee (IC) is 
responsible for sifting through complaints 
made by the public against our members 
and with the assistance of the Legal, Ethics 
and Compliance (LEC) department conducts 
investigations relating to alleged acts in 
breach of the SAIPA code of conduct and 
by-laws. The efficiency of the IC cannot be 
understated, their thorough investigations 
and ability to handle complaints, have 

minimised matters being referred to the 
Disciplinary Committee (DC). We look 
forward to ensuring that all SAIPA members 
remain professional and competent in the 
work that they perform; exercise due care 
and diligence in their interactions with their 
employers and clients; uphold the highest 
integrity and ethical morals in advising their 
clients and at all times conduct themselves in 
a manner that protects the public interest.

Matters adjudicated upon by the Investigation Committee during the year

Matters finalised by the Disciplinary Committee during the year

Fine Amount Category Region

R1,500 Failure to submit an engagement letter to the LEC Northern

Struck-off
Members conduct was in breach of the SAIPA  
By-Laws, Code of Conduct and Constitution.

Eastern 

Referral to the DC (refer below) Unauthorised use of an e-profile Western

Referral to the DC (refer below) Issuing of an audit opinion Northern

Fine Amount Category Region

R5,000 fine for unauthorised use  
of e-profile

Unprofessional and unethical behaviour Western

Ongoing matter Unprofessional and unethical behaviour Northern 
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COMPLIANCE
Continuous Professional Development (CPD) 
is a pre-requisite for members to ensure that 
they retain their status as members of SAIPA 
(refer to International Education Standards 7). 
It is an important component of the “life-long 
learning” path of our members that ensure 
they are competent and remain relevant 
in a constantly changing environment. 
The focus for CPD sessions changes from 
transferring information to interactive 
sessions with an objective of developing the 
skills and competence to apply the technical 
knowledge applicable to business situations.

The past year has seen further improvements 
in CPD compliance. Our approach has 
been to empower members to fulfil their 
compliance requirements. In January 2016 
we had 1,900 members who had neglected to  
update their profiles and were non-
complaint, with zero CPD hours. By August 
2016 our dedicated Compliance Officer, 
Aysha Naino, had reduced the number to 
700 by providing members with personalised 
action plans that enabled them to adhere to 
the policy requirements. 

Our continuous efforts to remind members 
to log their hours and accessible webinars 
assist us in upholding the IFAC International 
Education Standards (IES 7) and Statement 
of Members Obligations (SMO 2). From 
the overwhelming response to our CPD 
compliance notices, it is evident that 
members are committed to upholding their 
professional obligations. 

The attendance at CPD sessions for the year 
increased from 8,320 (2015) to 11,449 (2016). 
There has also been a significant increase 
in the number of subscribers to the CPD 
webinars and the annual number of 13,097.

After learning that FASSET would become the 
administrative arm of QCTO, SAIPA started 
implementing changes to our Accredited 
Training Centres (ATCs) policy to ensure 
alignment with the stringent requirements as 
set by QCTO. The major change was that the 
ATCs were deemed to serve as a delegated 
Quality Assurance Programme (QAP) from 
the qualifications/learnerships of SAIPA and 
are therefore responsible assessors for the 
development of the competencies of the 
trainees. Professor Rashied Small (Education, 
Training and Membership Executive) 
and Ragiema Thokan-Mahomed (Senior 
Manager: Legal, Ethics and Compliance) 
conducted an ATC roadshow in August 2016. 
We plan to start assessor training in 2017, to 
give effect to the policy. The objective of the 
ATC roadshow was to capacitate the ATCs 
to comply with the requirements of QCTO. 
Annual monitoring and more engagement 
by SAIPA in the learnership programme may 
enable trainees to excel in our professional 
examination upon completion of their 
training.

The SARS Recognised Controlling Body 
(RCB) deadline was met timeously and work 
has already commenced in preparation 
for the confirmed 2017 good standing 
list. Our commitment to our role as a RCB 
has now positioned SAIPA as the chair of 
the SARS RCB forum and we congratulate 
Faith Ngwenya (Technical and Standards 
Executive) on the appointment.

In 2016, we encouraged members to expand 
their scope of work beyond accounting by 
becoming business advisors. In October 2016, 
we received confirmation from Companies 
and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) 
that our Institute was one of two controlling 

bodies that would now be home to Business 
Rescue Practitioners. Our commitment to 
members to enhance opportunities for them, 
remains resolute.

SAIPA’s memberships with IFAC was extend-
ed until 2018 through the approval of the 
SMO processes. The accreditation and the 
SMO process require SAIPA to implement 
its obligations through a monitoring system 
(SMO dashboard) which is a mechanism to 
enforce compliance to the IFAC member-
ship conditions. The task ahead is to ensure 
enforcement and policing of the obligations 
through the activities of SAIPA is effectively 
executed. 



3939

creating

VALUE
Our Business  
Model

Qualification
Designations

Training
Services

D
ev

el
op

Pr
of

es
sio

na
ls D

evelop,  

Support and  

Service M
em

bers

Members, Associates and Affiliates

Stakeholder 
engagement, 

professional bodies, 
regulatory and 

compliance bodies

The Professional 
Accountancy 
Organisation 

of Choice

MEMBERS

PROFESSION SAIPA

Creating Value

Represent and  
Influence

Profession



40

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Full Members 7,197 7,682 8,289 8,416 8,914 

Accounting Technicians 268 294 305 306 247 

Trainees 1,561 1,608 1,716 1,806 1,785 

ATCs 845 863 882 901 920 

Other associate and affiliate members - 178 271 109 103 

TOTAL 9,871 10,625 11,463 11,538 11,969 

Creating Value

SAIPA creates value for the profession and its 
members, as well as other stakeholders.

As one of the largest professional 
accountancy organisations in South Africa, 
SAIPA plays a key role in our economy and 
for this reason, we place a strong emphasis 
on our responsibility to our members as well 
as to the wider community.

Accounting scandals date back to the middle 
of the twentieth century, and the last decade 
has seen a disproportionately large number 

of these scandals rock the corporate world. 
As a result, we find ourselves at a place where 
trust in business is one of the most often 
cited concerns and simultaneously one of 
the most valued commodities. This means 
that credibility is an absolute necessity for 
the modern accountant, and is instrumental 
to the success of our members, being 
accountants operating in this environment 
and, even more importantly, to the business 
community at large that uses the services of 
accountants and relies on them for accurate 
reporting and business advice.

For this reason, we see our most important 
contributions to the economy being not only 
developing our members and the profession, 
but also providing certainty and credibility to 
the wider business community through our 
professional designations.

As can be seen in the accompanying 
illustration of our business model, there 
are three primary areas in which our efforts 
are directed in order to maximise our 
contribution.

We are proud of our membership base, which includes full members, associates and affiliates. It is only by working with our members that we 
are able to make an impact on the economy and positively influence the business community. To ensure that this is sustainable into the future, 
SAIPA is committed to ensuring that that we provide opportunities and tools for development and growth, and to ensuring that the credibility 
of our members is maintained. 

1. MEMBERS

ADELIA KRUGER
SAIPA Brand Ambassador 2016, 
Professional Accountant (SA), SAIPA East 
Rand Forum Chairperson.

When I first started as an accountant I 
never thought I would have my own tax 
practice. When I achieved that goal, I had 
a number of concerns. I knew that being 
on my own would mean needing constant 
support and staying up to date with the 
latest developments in the industry. I knew 
that was possible with SAIPA. The Centre 
of Tax Excellence division in particular has 
been an incredible help, they’re always 
there. It’s like being part of a family.
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Member Demographics
2014          2015          2016

African Indian/Asian

9%

White

69%

Coloured

4%

Member Demographics

White         African         Indian/Asian         Coloured

Male

20
15

Female

Male

20
16

Female

18%

54.1%

45.9%

57.0%

43.0%



Capitals Value Creation

Financial capital: the pool of funds that is available for use in the 
provision of services obtained through financing or generated 
through operations – fees received (generated from operations)  
and grant funding recieved.

The grant received from FASSET was used to facilitate the 
transformation goals of SAIPA by providing educational training to 
improve the success rate of Black (African and Coloured) candidates 
to become professionals and members of SAIPA.

Manufactured capital: manufactured physical objects that are 
available for use in the provision of services – infrastructure 
architecture.

SAIPA has approved the plans to invest in its infrastructure (IT 
resources and networks – CRM and electronic logbook) to improve 
the quality of the services rendered its members.

Intellectual capital: organisational, knowledge-based intangibles – 
patents and registration of designations.

Instruction was given to our attorney in August 2016 for the  
re-registration of our trademarks / intellectual property, which  
would lapse in January 2017.

Human capital: people’s competencies, capabilities and experience 
and their motivations to innovate.

By ensuring a high level of standards is maintained, members remain 
relevant and are suitably equipped for the environment they operate 
in, leading to the sustained reputation of members, Institute and the 
profession. 

Staff members are developed and supported in order to ensure their 
growth and success.

Volunteers (being primary members) operate within regions, creating 
opportunities for growth of the membership base and members are 
involved.

Social and Relationships capital: institutions and relationships 
established within and between stakeholders and other networks – 
strategic stakeholders relationships and reciprocal agreements.

SAIPA strengthened its relationship with key stakeholders in the 
profession through assisting with the establishment of SARS RCB, 
BBBEE national body ABP as well as being involved with treasury in 
the rationalisations and regulation of the profession. 

SAIPA strengthened its relationship with international PAO through 
the signing of MoU and Reciprocal Agreements which enhance 
opportunity for its members globally.

Natural capital: renewable and non-renewable activities that support 
the vision of the organisation – carbon footprint project.

SAIPA continued to pursue its goal of reducing its contribution to 
carbon emission, for example by identifying areas where printing 
and paper usage can be reduced, including the monthly CPD 
seminars, and educating its staff about contributing positively by 
becoming environmentally conscious.

The accountancy profession consists of a number of key stakeholders, globally and in South Africa. SAIPA 
has an important role to play in influencing and shaping the development of the profession in many ways, 
and we do so through representation in the relevant forums and regular contact with decision-makers.

2. PROFESSION

Our governance structures, systems and employees form the backbone of our organisation. These are 
constantly evolving, and by assessing these on a regular basis and making changes where necessary, we are 
working to refine and improve our ability to deliver at a high level to all of our stakeholders. 

3. SAIPA

Creating Value 42
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stakeholders
OUR

Stakeholder /  
Key Interest

Why We Engage 
(relationship foundations)

What Matters to the  
Stakeholder

How We Connect

Members

Our members are integral to every aspect 
of our business. We take their needs into 
account. 

All our products and services should be able 
to effectively assist members in maintaining 
their professionalism and contribute to their 
success.

•   Service levels
•    Technical assistance and 

information
•    Product information
•    Value of the designations
•    Practice management 

information

•    Member forums and CPD 
training forums

•    Newsletters and publications
•    Website
•    Member surveys

Accredited  
Training Centres 
(ATCs)

ATCs service the wider public and also 
provide a training ground for our trainees 
where key knowledge and skills are 
transferred and the Professional Accountants 
(SA) of the future are developed.

•    Trainee competency
•    Assessment of trainees
•    Trainee logbook

•    Planned ATC visits
•    Quality assessments

Trainees 
Trainees are our future members and 
supporting them through the training process 
is critical to their development.

•   Mentorship and training
•   Career opportunities
•    Practice management 

information

•   CPD training forums
•    Newsletters and publications
•   Website
•    ATCs

Students and 
learners

We attract learners at schools, and students in 
universities, to the accounting profession as 
well as to encourage them to pursue a future 
as a Professional Accountant (SA).

•   Growth and development
•   Career opportunities
•   Potential remuneration

•    SAIPA’s annual National 
Accounting Olympiad

•    University career days,  
presence and presentations

•    Publications

Universities
Accredited universities provide the basis of 
our theoretical programme and are critical to 
maintaining our standards.

•    Competency framework
•    Accreditation requirements

•    Visits and meetings

Employees
Our employees are the face of SAIPA and 
it is through them that other stakeholder 
relationships are formed and maintained. 

•     Remuneration
•     Training and development

•   Day-to-day interaction
•   Regular staff meetings
•   Education sessions
•    Employee surveys

We identify our stakeholders by assessing the key groups with which the Institute and its various committees 
interact. By pursuing and building relationships that are beneficial to both the stakeholder and SAIPA, we are 
determined to create value for all involved and ensure the sustainability thereof.
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Stakeholder /  
Key Interest

Why We Engage 
(relationship foundations)

What Matters to the  
Stakeholder

How We Connect

Potential 
employees

In order to be an employer of choice and 
attract talented individuals, we need to 
ensure the potential employees view SAIPA  
in a desirable light.

•     Growth and development
•    Career opportunities
•    Potential remuneration

•    Media
•    Website
•    Publications

Suppliers Delivery of key resources is integral to the 
successful functioning of SAIPA. 

•    Building strong relationships
•    Day-to-day interactions
•    Ad hoc meetings and 

communication

Professional 
Accountancy 
Organisations 

Shaping the development of the profession 
and contributing to its growth and 
transformation.

•    Compliance with standards 
and requirements

•    Representation of members 
and the profession

•    Providing input on key issues 
experienced by the profession

•    Submissions on key issues
•    Representation on boards 

and committees of the various 
bodies

•    Meetings and visits

Government To engage government in regulation and 
policy development. 

•    Maintaining standards of the 
profession

•    Strong ethics
•    Development of skills in the 

public sector and job creation

•    Submissions on key issues
•    Ad hoc meetings and 

communication

Regulators
Maintaining SAIPA’s accreditations and 
credibility through compliance with standards 
and regulations.

•    Compliance with standards 
and regulations

•    Committee structures
•    Telephonic and written 

communications
•    Face-to-face meetings

The media and the 
wider community

Maximise the respect and reverence for 
the accounting profession and Professional 
Accountants (SA).

•    Credibility of SAIPA members 
and designations

•    Transformation within SAIPA 
and the profession

•    Website
•    Press releases
•    Publications
•    Articles
•    Interviews
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RISKS
opportunities

SAIPA’S ENTERPRISE RISK 
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK  
(“ERM FRAMEWORK”)
The ERM Framework deals with risks and 
opportunities affecting value creation or 
preservation and includes methods and 
processes used by SAIPA to manage risks and 
seize opportunities related to the achievement 
of SAIPA’s objectives. The ERM Framework 
provides a framework for risk management, 
which typically involves identifying partic-
ular events or circumstances relevant to 
SAIPA’s objectives (risks and opportunities), 
assessing them in terms of likelihood 
and magnitude of impact, determining a 
response strategy, and monitoring progress. 
By identifying and proactively addressing 
risks and opportunities, SAIPA protects and 
creates value for its stakeholders, including 
members, employees, customers, regulators, 
and society overall.

The corporate governance drivers behind 
risk management today require new ways of 
reporting and monitoring an organisation’s 
risk exposures. For this reason SAIPA’s ERM 
Framework has been aligned to the guidance 
in ISO 31000:2009 (Risk management – 
principles and guidelines).

The SAIPA Board is responsible and 
accountable for directing and monitoring 
SAIPA’s risk management activities and 
related performance within a structured 
framework. All core and support services 
support the Board to maintain an effective 
system of risk management. The risk 
management standards in the ERM 
Framework are the mandatory requirements 
established by the Board for the 
management of risk in SAIPA. The standards 
are based on current recognised business 
practices and standards and corporate 
governance principles.

SAIPA has a Risk Management Committee 
charged with monitoring and evaluating risk 
and reporting accordingly to the Audit and 
Risk Committee. 

&
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THE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
The following describes the key elements 
of the risk management process as set out 
in SAIPA’s ERM Framework, including risk 
planning, identification, analysis, response, and 
monitoring. 

Risk planning and risk identification for both 
internal and external risks are conducted 
at management level. We primarily utilise a 
risk register which includes risk mitigation 
strategies for identified risks. Risk identification 
takes place at various levels of SAIPA to ensure 
that common risk trends are identified and risk 
management can successfully be enabled. 

To determine which risks pose the highest 
threat to the viability of SAIPA, we classify 
them on a scale based on the likelihood that 
a risk will occur within the assessment horizon 
as well as the impact the risk would have on 

SAIPA’s business objectives if it were realised. 
The scale varies from one, where the likelihood 
of occurrence is remote, to 10, where the 
likelihood is certain.

We define a remote risk as one that will occur 
only under exceptional circumstances and a 
near certain risk as one that can be expected to 
occur within the specified time horizon, being 
our identified strategic planning period.

We also evaluate the impact level on a scale 
ranging from insignificant, where the impact of 
an adverse event is minimal to critical, where 
major financial, operational or reputational loss 
can occur.

Based on the likelihood that a risk will occur 
as well as the impact the risk would have on 
SAIPA’s reputation, business, financial position, 
profit, and cash flow leads us to classify the risks 
as “very high”, “high”, “medium,” or “low”.

Management is responsible for continuously monitoring the risks and the effectiveness of 
mitigation strategies. 

All identified and relevant risks are evaluated at the Risk Management Committee in 
accordance with our risk management policy, and thereafter reported to the Audit and Risk 
Committee as required. The Board is informed quarterly about individual risks based on 
clearly defined reporting criteria. 
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Risk Matrix

Impact

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Category Low                Medium                High                Very High1 2 3 4

10 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

9 9 18 27 36 45 54 63 72 81 90

8 8 16 24 32 40 48 56 64 72 80

7 7 14 21 28 35 42 49 56 63 70

6 6 12 18 24 30 36 42 48 54 60

5 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

4 4 8 12 16 20 24 28 32 36 40

3 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 24 27 30

2 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
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Critical Success 
Factor 

Industry 
Issue

Risks
Mitigating Factors  
and Actions 

Related  
Opportunities

Secure the growth 
and transformation 
of SAIPA

Growth in 
membership  
base and reach

•    Competition from other 
designations

•    Ineffective committees 
leading to poor decision-
making

•    Investment in marketing 
and growth does not yield 
suitable pipeline

•    High turnover of 
committee members in 
one or more regions

•    Brand advertising 
campaign and 
communicating value 
proposition

•    Induction and training; 
consideration of skills 
requirements when 
appointing committee 
members

•    Marketing strategy in place 
to clearly address actions 
and measurement

•    Scheduled regional 
communications and 
meetings

•    National Accounting 
Olympiad

•    Transformation of the 
profession through  
specific education

•    Mentoring

•    Student chapters

Strengthen  
SAIPA’s 
relationships 
with national 
and international 
stakeholders

Importance of 
stakeholder 
relationships

•    Board focusing on 
operational decisions 
rather than remaining 
strategically focused

•    Ineffective communication 
of SAIPA brand and value 
proposition

•    Uncertainty relating to 
changes in regulation

•    Training; improved 
reporting; considering 
strategic role requirements 
when appointing board 
members

•    Advertising and brand 
campaign planned with 
suitable initiatives and 
marketing material

•    Participation in the process 
relating to regulation

•    Strategic partnerships  
with stakeholders

•    Explore research 
opportunities

Enhance the 
capacity and 
professionalism of 
members and staff 

Reputation and 
credibility

•    Poor performance by 
Centre of Tax Excellence 
negatively affecting SAIPA 
brand

•    Unauthorised or poorly 
executed organisational 
restructuring

•    Conducting surveys and 
acting on findings

•    Ensuring any changes are 
appropriately authorised 
and managed

•    Improved accreditation 
processes for ATCs and  
for tertiary institutions

•    Aiming to become an 
employer of choice

Ensure compliance 
and sustainability  
of our members 
and the Institute

Compliance

•    Over-reliance on member 
subscriptions as primary 
income stream

•    Competitors merging

•    Conflicts of interest by 
board or committee 
members or regional 
representatives

•    Consider sustainability in 
development of strategic 
plans and in budgeting

•    Develop relationships and 
collaborations with other 
professional bodies in the 
industry

•    Induction to address 
conflicts of interest; ensure 
disclosures are recorded

•    Knowledge management

•    Improved compliance 
monitoring and response

KEY RISKS FACED BY SAIPA AND THE INDUSTRY 
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ACHIEVER
project

Below: “I’m a Professional Accountant (SA)” was echoed 
by the November 2016 graduation group of the SAIPA 
Project Achiever programme at a ceremony held to 
honour their hard work and achievements.
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The primary goal of Project Achiever 
is to develop the competencies of our 
candidates to become value adding 
Professional Accountants (SA). The 
programme aligns to the requirements 
of IFAC’s international standards of 
proficiency that ensures our Professional 
Accountants (SA) conduct themselves with 
distinction.

Project Achiever is a non-pivotal funding 
programme of FASSET and is aimed at 
contributing to the transformation agenda 
of government and for the accounting 
sector by improving the throughput 
rate of the learnership qualifications to 

become Professional Accountants (SA). 
The programme admits candidates who 
meet the entry requirements for the SAIPA 
Professional Evaluation examination, viz. 
minimum Bachelors qualification with the 
minimum technical knowledge required 
and the minimum practical requirements 
(completed the learnership or a minimum 
of six years practical experience). 
The funding is aimed at “Black” 
candidates as defined by FASSET, i.e.  
Black-African and Coloureds in the 
Western and Northern Cape. However, the 
programme is open to candidates who do 
not meet the funding requirements at a 
nominal cost.

Project Achiever
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The programme is designed on the principles 
of competency-based education and training 
which facilitates the capacity development of our 
candidates to become Professional Accountants 
(SA) as prescribed by IFAC and the International 
Education Standards (IES). The programme 
develops the competencies of our candidates 
to be capable of executing their responsibilities 
with accountability, in compliance with relevant 
regulations and standards.

The programme focuses on the development 
of the skills and competence of the candidates 
with an emphasis on the learning process 
rather than the subject content – applying a 
student centred approach. The Project has 
evolved in terms of its teaching methodology 
to incorporate the holistic development of 
the Professional Accountant (SA), from being 
subject-based content driven to competency-
based. This resulted in the boundaries of 
subjects being removed allowing for the 
Professional Accountants (SA) to become well-
rounded individuals who positively contribute to 
the value creation of their clients and employers 
– the approach is business driven ensuring that 
the candidates are capable to analysing business 
situations and developing holistic solutions to 
the complex problems identified. 

The goals of the programme include:

•  the consolidation of technical knowledge 
– integrating the principles of the subject 
content into a business approach to problem 
solving;

•  developing the skills to apply the knowledge 
as professional accountants – providing 
service in compliance with the standards of 
the profession but also using the financial 
information to add value to businesses; and

•  developing the professional and ethical 
competence/behaviours of the candidates – 
developing the attributes needed to render 
services aligned to the expected proficiency 
standards with a focus on serving the interest 
of the public. The achievements are based on feedback received from candidates and their employers.

Performance indicators and achievements

Indicators Achievements

Competent Professional  
Accountants (SA)

The candidates have successfully become 
members of SAIPA with an 85% success 
rate and a membership conversion rate 
of 91%

Changing the mindset

The candidates are thinking about 
how they perform their work functions, 
especially questioning the accounting 
policies applied in financial statements 
looking beyond and understanding the 
numbers presented in financial statements

Thinking Professional  
Accountants (SA)

The candidates are questioning the 
work they do rather than relying on the 
accounting packages (queries received 
are challenging the peers) – improving 
the quality and integrity of the financial 
statements

Business minded Professional 
Accountants (SA) – business advisors

Candidates are thinking about the value 
that they can add to the clients/employers 
rather than merely preparing financial 
statements – concerned about how the 
financial information can be used by 
owners and other key users

Problem solvers

Candidates are re-assessing work already 
performed in order to determine whether 
they can improve the integrity and quality 
of their work

Inter-personal skills

Candidates are more confident 
in themselves and are willing to 
communicate their opinions more freely 
amongst their peers and seniors
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The following are some of the success stories of the programme since its inception:

• candidates gained promotion to senior positions – 7 members;
• candidates received job offers, including the Big 4 audit firms – 4;
• candidates gained executive posts – 3;
• candidates pursued further studies – 3 (MBA programmes);
• candidates established their own practices – 5;
• candidate appointed as partners at accounting practices – 1; and
• candidate appointed as Training Officer.

The following are the results for Project Achiever since inception:

We look to continue the success in future and are developing an e-learning platform that will extend 
the reach to more Professional Accountants (SA) in remote and outlying areas that will increase the 
national footprint of SAIPA and embed our value as professional accountants in South Africa.

+
Group Target Actual

Competent

Number Percentage

Cohort 1 120 139 116 83%

Cohort 2 120 142 126 89%

Cohort 3 120 171 141 88%

TOTAL 360 452 383 85%

Project Achiever

YAEESH YASSEEN
SAIPA Brand Ambassador 2016, 
Professional Accountant (SA), Senior 
Accountancy Lecturer at Wits University.

I like to be at the forefront of 
industry changes and local 
legislation updates. SAIPA’s 
affiliations to global industry 
bodies like the International 
Federation of Accountants (IFAC) 
and the Pan African Federation of 
Accountants (PAFA) means that 
not only do have I have global 
recognition for my professional 
designation, but that I’m prepared 
for the future as well. In fact, 
in light of constant changes to 
legislation and the accounting 
landscape, it is essential to 
be a member of a recognised 
professional body like SAIPA in 
order to keep up to date.
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The examination is aligned with the IES 6 recommendation 
with a focus on competency-based assessment. 

The emphasis is on the following:

•  intensive reading skills – focus on identifying relevant  
and irrelevant information and the comprehension of the 
information for application purposes;

•  critical thinking skills – analysis of the information for the 
purposes of synthesis in providing recommendations and 
solutions to business scenarios provided;

•  knowledge integration – questions were integrated 
into case studies rather than performing assessments in 
subject silos; 

•  writing skills – significant shift to discussion type questions 
with the focus on report writing skills; and

•  problem solving – candidates are expected to provide 
simple solutions to the complex problems outlined in the 
business scenarios and case studies.

examination
EVALUATION

professional



This resulted in the following:

•  the multiple choice questions became 
mini-case studies which required a 
greater emphasis on the cognitive skills 
(reading, analytical and problem solving 
skills) and required an integration of 
technical knowledge with real life business 
experiences;

•  introduction of an integrated case study 
which required the application of technical 
knowledge in practical situations in a 
consultative manner thereby placing greater  
emphasis on the analytical and writing skills 
of the candidates; and

•  the volume of information required the 
candidates to identify relevance and 
irrelevant data that needed to be used to 
draft an answer which placed the candidates 
under time management pressures. 

With hindsight, feedback from all stakeholders 
approved the quality of the examination paper, 
but raised concerns about the following:

•  the time pressure placed on the candidates 
which resulted in approximately 85% of the 
candidates not answering all the questions in 
the case study;

•  the significant change in the nature and 
type of questions (requiring the integration 
of knowledge) together with the shift to 
competency-based assessments was too 
large a jump and shift; and

•  the move to less basic skills type questions 
(computations, presentations and recall) 
which constituted less than 30% of the 

question paper placed the candidates under 
significant pressure as higher order thinking 
skills were required.

However, with the change in the preparation 
strategy offered to candidates (through the 
Preparation Course and Project Achiever 
programme) the concerns mentioned above 
were partly resolved. In order to improve the 
preparation of candidates for the examination, 
the Preparation Course will be cancelled with 
effect from January 2017 and all candidates 
will have access to the e-learning platform in 
preparation for the examination.

The following were additional components 
which were implemented to comply with the 
requirements of assessments:

•  feedback report to candidates who were not 
considered to be competent – a report was 
provided to the candidates highlighting:

 o   the reasons for them not being considered 
competent – analysis of performance

 o   strengths and weaknesses – knowledge, 
skills and time management

 o   strategies for improvement and becoming 
successful; and

•  alternative strategy to assess performance 
– candidates who were considered to be 
borderline (between 47% and 50%) were 
requested for an oral assessment. The oral  
assessment met the standards for assessment 
and was applied consistently to all candidates 
in a structured assessment process.
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May 2016 November 2016

Total Competent Total Competent

Bloemfontein 28 25 89% 20 17 85%

Cape Town 69 61 88% 133 116 87%

Durban 41 36 88% 38 28 74%

Limpopo 7 6 86% 7 5 71%

Midrand 99 78 79% 137 121 88%

Polokwane 2 1 50% 7 6 86%

Port Elizabeth 15 15 100% 24 23 96%

Potchefstroom 12 12 100% 26 25 96%

Pretoria 52 46 88% 70 57 81%

White River 3 2 67% 0 0 0%

TOTAL 328 282 86% 462 398 86%

 

May 2016 November 2016

1 N Gouws Midrand M A Krafft Midrand

2 S M Williams Cape Town C Geldenhuys Pretoria

3 T M Hofman Pretoria L Beukes Midrand

4 S D J Reynolds Pretoria S D Lesch Midrand

5 B B van Coller Bloemfontein M Alli Midrand

6 S G van Eyk Port Elizabeth S R Kleynhans Port Elizabeth

7 A Deepchund Durban C De Beer Port Elizabeth

8 M D J Potgieter Bloemfontein F Chetty Midrand

9 D G Strachan Pretoria L Jacobs Pretoria

10 W Z Zimuto Midrand K Naidoo Midrand

The results were as follows:

The top 10 performers were:

56Professional Evaluation Examination
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olympiad
The top six students in the SAIPA 2016 National Accounting Olympiad are, from left to right:

Simonè Balt, Hoërskool Linden, Gauteng; Raadiyyah Seedat, Lenasia Muslim School, Gauteng; 
Husnaa Motala, Westville Girls High School, KwaZulu-Natal; Rulani Ndala, Merensky High 
School, Limpopo; Liam Roubach, De Kuilen High School, Western Cape; and Muzaffar Ahmed 
Malani, Orient Islamic School, KwaZulu-Natal.

NATIONALaccounting
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SAIPA has run the National Accounting 
Olympiad (NAO) every year for the past 14 
years. Our aim is to make the SAIPA NAO top 
of mind amongst learners.

Its goal is to make Accounting as a subject 
more accessible to all learners and to expose 
the option of professional accountancy 
as a career opportunity to aspiring young 
accounting learners in Grade 12 country-
wide. There was an improvement on last 
year’s numbers in terms of the number of 
schools and learners taking part. 

The future bodes well for the South African 
accountancy profession as the top six 
learners achieved an average of more than 
90% at the National Accounting Olympiad. 
Muzaffar Ahmed Malani from the Orient 
Islamic School in KwaZulu-Natal claimed 
pole position with 96.5%. He was followed 
by Rhulani Ndala from Merensky High 
School in Limpopo who came second place 
with 92%. In third place was Simonè Balt 
from Hoërskool Linden with 91.5%. Husnaa 
Motala from Westville Girls High School in  
KwaZulu-Natal, Liam Roubach from De 
Kuilen High School in Cape Town, Western 

Cape, and Raadiyyah Seedat from Lenasia 
Muslim School in Gauteng all shared fourth 
place, scoring 91%. 

SAIPA will target more schools in 
disadvantaged communities in line with our 
growth and transformation strategy. Our 
numbers will continue to increase steadily as 
we are now extending the NAO to Grade 11 
and eventually, to Grade 10.

We want young learners to know about 
SAIPA and career paths early on in their 
school career. 

SAIPA is working hard to grow awareness of 
the Olympiad. 

In conclusion, the NAO is SAIPA’s way of 
showing that we care about the profession 
and we want to inspire a love for accounting 
with the future talent of South Africa. 

2016 National Accounting  
Olympiad statistics

Total Learners 3,510

African Black Learners 2,042 58.2%

African Coloured Learners 190 5.4%

Indian/Asian Learners 481 13.7%

White Learners 772 22%

Other 25 0.7%

National Accounting Olympiad
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SUMMARY
performance

*Restated for effect of reclassifying PI insurance cost and income

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Revenue and other income* 41,309 45,244 52,288 60,072 64,142 

Surplus/deficit for the year 1,214 874 625 10,176 5,122 

Total assets 24,108 30,658 36,045 44,840 56,751

Total liabilities 11,484 17,129 21,831 20,484 27,265 

Designated funds and reserves 12,624 13,529 14,214 24,356 29,486 

Funds and reserves as % of  
operating expenses 36% 35% 30% 47% 48%

Current ratio 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.8 1.8

Debt: equity ratio 0.9 1.3 1.5 0.8 0.9

All amounts in R’000
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COMMENTARY ON 2016 FINANCIAL 
RESULTS
During 2016, the Institute generated a 
surplus of R5,121,591 (2015: R10,176,020). 
2016 was headlined by an increasing focus 
on compliance as well as increased visibility 
through a brand campaign (Be a part of the 
bigger picture) as part of efforts to raise 
public and stakeholder awareness of SAIPA. 

REVENUE
From a membership fees perspective, there 
was steady marginal growth, with other non-
membership income, such as Project Achiever, 
CPD income and investment income, 
providing the primary revenue growth.

Project Achiever was in full swing during 
2016 resulting in income of almost R3 million, 
compared to less than R1 million the year 
before. The final portion will accrue to SAIPA 
during 2017 upon successful completion of 
the project.

Membership fees grew marginally due to an 
increased number of members across the 
board, although growth was slightly below 
our budget expectations. Fees also grew 
despite the zero percent increase applied to 
all types of membership fees for 2016. 

We were forced to strike off over 300 
members due to the non-payment of fees. 
About 15% of these members have since 
settled and been reinstated. 

With our focus on compliance and members 
understanding the need to meet their 
own CPD requirements, CPD attendance 
exceeded our expectations and CPD income 
grew by over 20% during 2016.

We did not receive a claims performance 
credit during the year (2015: R2.3 million), 
but there is a contingent portion accruing 
to us that will depend on the level of claims 
and that may be recoverable in future years. 

EXPENSES
Expenses returned closer to expectations 
during 2016 with the appointment of a new 
CE from mid-year and a returned focus to 
normal operating activities, particularly those 
relating to stakeholder engagement.

Marketing expenses grew substantially on the 
back of a large campaign that saw five brand 
ambassadors take the spotlight for SAIPA 
with large media and PR initiatives, along with 
increased presence at relevant exhibitions. 
There has been no evident short-term 
return in member growth from this spend, 
but it is expected to be an investment into 
future growth, with another brand campaign 
planned for 2017 to build on the 2016 efforts.

Several key vacancies were filled during the 
year, although with some staff leaving and 
inflationary increases, the increase in the 
employee costs line was limited to 4%.

BALANCE SHEET
Capital expenditure for 2016 was below 
budget and the prior year spend. This was 
mostly due to delays in the development of 
identified IT projects.

Despite the increase in the year-end balance, 
debtors days remained within our target 
range. Cash increased as a result of the 
surplus achieved during the year, and this was 
further strengthened by a fairly large increase 
in membership fees paid in advance for 2017 
before year-end as compared to the prior year. 

These fees received in advance were also 
the primary contributor to the increase in 
payables at year-end.

As noted above, the Institute’s balance sheet 
is stronger than it has been in the past and 
provides a strong foundation for the Institute 
to pursue and achieve its objectives.

The Institute’s reserves have been 
bolstered in the past couple of years by 
the surpluses generated. This is critical to 
the Institute’s sustainability and comes at 
a very important time with global and local 
economic uncertainties still prevalent. Our 
reserves are now near the target levels we 
have determined through benchmarking 
exercises, providing a good foundation for 
the future.

Revenue and membership
Revenue  

Members

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Funds and Reserves
Funds and reserves As % of operating expenses Target

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

12,624 13,529 14,214

24,356

29,486

50%
48%

All amounts in R’000
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Board Members’ Responsibilities  
and Approval

The Board is required to maintain adequate accounting records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements 
and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the Institute as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in 
conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the 
annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon appropriate 
accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Board acknowledges that it is ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Institute and places 
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the Board to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets 
standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable 
level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Institute and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 
ensuring the Institute’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management 
in the Institute is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Institute. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the Board endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are 
applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Board is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal control provides 
reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system of 
internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has reviewed the Institute’s cash flow forecast and, in light of this review and the current financial position, it is satisfied that the 
Institute has or had access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Institute’s annual financial statements. The annual financial 
statements have been examined by the company’s external auditors and their report is presented on pages 65 to 66.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 67 to 94, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the Board 
on 8 March 2017 and were signed on their behalf by:

B Coka
Chief Executive

C Dibete
Chairman

Board Members’ Responsibilities and Approval
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of South African Institute of Professional Accountants

OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of South African Institute of Professional Accountants set out on pages 69 to 92, which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of South African Institute of 
Professional Accountants as at 31 December 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Institute’s Constitution.

BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Institute 
in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and 
other independence requirements applicable to the performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South 
Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Board Members’ Report set out on pages 67 to 68 and 
the supplementary information set out on pages 93 to 94. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Institute’s Constitution, and for such internal control as the Board determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the Institute’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board either intends to liquidate the 
Institute or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 •  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 •  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Institute’s internal control.

 •  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
the Board.

 •  Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Institute’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Institute to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

 •  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Nexia SAB&T

Registered Auditors
Per: A Darmalingam
Director
Date: 8 March 2017
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Board Members’ Report

The Board has pleasure in submitting their report for the year ended 31 December 2016.

1.  REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES
 The Institute is a qualification and membership body for professional individuals engaged in accountancy and related services.

  The financial position, operating results and cash flows of the Institute are set out in the attached annual financial statements and do not in 
our opinion require any further comment.

2. GOING CONCERN 

  The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes 
that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations 
and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

3. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
  The Board is not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year that has a material impact on the annual 

financial statements.

4. DIRECTORATE
 The board members of the Institute in office at the date of this report are as follows:

 Board Members Designation Changes

 C Dibete Chairman
 M Seedat Vice-Chairman
 F Ngwenya Acting Chief Executive Term ended 30 June 2016
 B Coka Chief Executive  Appointed 1 July 2016
 S Abass  
 J Dijkman  Appointed 2 June 2016
 S Dollie  Appointed 2 June 2016
 T Kubheka  Retired 2 June 2016
 K Naicker
 N Ntsinde  Retired 2 June 2016
 A Parker 
 P Pieterse
 A Ramikosi
 V Sangoni  Resigned 31 August 2016
 B Tamba  Retired 2 June 2016
 Y Yasseen
 R Ludwig Observer Resigned 2 June 2016
 F Moormann Observer Appointed 1 August 2016

In terms of the Institute’s Constitution, Board members retire after serving four years in office. During the current year, three Board members 
retired in accordance with this provision and two were appropriately replaced.

Board Members’ Report
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Committee Name Abbreviation Used in this Document

Board Committees

Appeals Committee AC

Audit and Risk Committee ARC

Disciplinary Committee DC

Executive Committee EXCO

Human Resources and Remuneration Committee HRC

Investigations Committee IC

Nominations Committee NOMCOM

Social and Ethics Committee SEC

Secretariat Committees

Education Committee EDCOM

Regional Associations and District Associations Committee RADAC

Risk Management Committee RMC

Technical Committee TECHCOM

5. BOARD SECRETARY
 The Institute’s Board secretary is Miss A Mabida, who replaced Mr M Nkumanda from 1 September 2016.

6. COMMITTEES
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Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2016

Note(s) 2016
R

2015
R

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 3 8,737,906 8,686,815

Intangible assets 4 239,311 427,324

Other financial assets 5 229,019 220,426

9,206,236 9,334,565

Current Assets

Accounts receivable 7 3,009,275 1,996,823

Cash and cash equivalents 8 44,535,252 33,509,032

47,544,527 35,505,855

TOTAL ASSETS 56,750,763 44,840,420

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Designated funds and reserves 12,518,820 10,694,672

Accumulated funds 16,967,183 13,661,147

29,486,003 24,355,819

LIABILITIES
Non-Current Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities 13 627,179 597,874

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 14 26,326,299 19,483,981

Finance lease liabilities 13 311,282 402,746

26,637,581 19,886,727

Total Liabilities 27,264,760   20,484,601

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 56,750,763 44,840,420
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Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income

Note(s) 2016
R

2015 
R

Revenue 16 49,928,724 48,073,438

Other income 17 14,213,249 11,998,754

Operating expenses (61,687,846) (52,150,351)

Operating surplus 18 2,454,127 7,921,841

Investment revenue 19 2,855,785 2,332,256

Finance costs 20 (188,321) (78,077)

Surplus for the year 5,121,591 10,176,020

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Gain/(loss) on fair value adjustment of available-for-sale investments 8,593 (34,444)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 8,593 (34,444)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 5,130,184 10,141,576
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Changes in Equity

Building 
Reserve 

 
 

R

Bursary 
Fund 

 
 

R

Available 
for sale 

Investment 
Fair Value 

Reserve
R

Development
Fund 

 
 

R

Total 
Designated 
Funds and 

Reserves 

R

Accumulated
Funds 

 
 

R

Total
Equity 

 
 

R

Balance at  
1 January 2015 480,000 430,000 224,161 6,850,779 7,984,940 6,229,303 14,214,243

Surplus for the year - - - - - 10,176,020 10,176,020

Other comprehensive loss - - (34,444) - (34,444) - (34,444)

Total comprehensive income  
for the year - - (34,444) - (34,444) 10,176,020 10,141,576

Transfer between reserves 240,000 (663) - 2,504,839 2,744,176 (2,744,176) -

Total transfers 240,000 (663) - 2,504,839 2,744,176 (2,744,176) -

Balance at  
1 January 2016 720,000 429,337 189,717 9,355,618 10,694,672 13,661,147 24,355,819

Surplus for the year - - - - - 5,121,591 5,121,591

Other comprehensive income - - 8,593 - 8,593 - 8,593

Total comprehensive income  
for the year - - 8,593 - 8,593 5,121,591 5,130,184

Transfer between reserves 240,000 50,000 - 1,525,555 1,815,555 (1,815,555) -

Total transfers 240,000 50,000 - 1,525,555 1,815,555 (1,815,555) -

BALANCE AT  
31 DECEMBER 2016

960,000 479,337 198,310 10,881,173 12,518,820 16,967,183 29,486,003

Note(s) 9 10 11 12
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Statement of Cash Flows

 Note(s) 2016
R

2015
R

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash receipts from members 68,081,475 58,344,581

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (59,223,174) (49,812,094)

Cash generated from operations 22 8,858,301 8,532,487

Interest income 2,819,465 2,332,256

Dividend income 36,320 -

Net cash from operating activities 11,714,086 10,864,743

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (222,863) (326,200)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 32,956

Purchase of other intangible assets 4 (37,335) (178,100)

Net cash in investing activities (260,198) (471,344)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Finance lease payments (427,668) (311,430)

Total cash movement for the year 11,026,220 10,081,969

Cash at the beginning of the year 33,509,032 23,427,063

TOTAL CASH AT END OF THE YEAR 8 44,535,252 33,509,032
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Accounting Policies

Accounting Policies
PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The South African Institute of Professional Accountants is a non-profit organisation registered and domiciled in South Africa.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
on 8 March 2017.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The annual financial 
statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the Statement of Cash Flows which has been presented on a cash basis, 
and Available for Sale investments which has been prepared on a fair value basis, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out 
below. They are presented in South African Rands.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below. These accounting policies 
are consistent with the previous period.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management, from time to time, to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The critical judgements made by management in applying accounting policies, that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements, are outlined as follows:

Accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents
The Institute assesses its accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the Institute makes judgements as to whether there is observable data 
indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Institute follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine when an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired. This determination requires 
significant judgment. In making this judgment, the Institute evaluates, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the fair value of 
an investment is less than its cost.

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices 
at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Institute is the current bid price.

The carrying value less impairment provision of accounts receivable and accounts payable are assumed to approximate their fair values.

Impairment testing
The Institute reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets 
and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group 
of assets. Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially change 
over time.

Residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are based on management estimates.
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1.2  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Institute holds for its own and which are expected to be used for more than one year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Institute, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition 
or construction of the asset.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised 
if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Institute and the cost can be measured reliably.  
Day-to-day servicing costs are included in surplus or deficit in the year in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Property, plant and equipment are 
depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their estimated residual value. Leased assets are depreciated in a 
consistent manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated 
residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as 
held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

 Item Average Useful Life

 Land Indefinite
 Buildings 50 years
 Furniture and fixtures 10-12 years
 Motor vehicles 5 years
 Office equipment 5 years
 IT equipment 3 years
 Finance lease assets - office equipment Lease term

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ 
from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated 
separately.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When the carrying 
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, determined as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised.

1.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
An intangible asset is recognised when:

 • it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
 • the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.  
For intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.
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The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that the asset may be 
impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

 Item Useful Life

 Computer software 2 years

 Website 2 years

1.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Classification
The Institute classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

 • Loans and receivables

 • Available-for-sale financial assets

 • Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial recognition. 
Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis.

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the Institute becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The Institute classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity 
instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the 
instrument.

Subsequent measurement
Accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 
accumulated impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity until the asset is disposed of or determined to be impaired. Interest on available-for-
sale financial assets calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in surplus or deficit as part of other income. Dividends received 
on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in surplus or deficit as part of other income when the Institute’s right to receive payment 
is established.

Accounts payable and finance lease obligations at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Institute 
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date the Institute assesses all financial assets to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets has been impaired.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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For amounts due to the Institute, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and default of 
payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment is 
reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial instruments designated as available-for-sale
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally of marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated as 
available for sale or that are not classified in any of the other investment categories. Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current 
assets unless the Institute intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in surplus or deficit when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit is recognised in surplus 
or deficit within operating expenses. When a debtor is uncollectable, it is written off against the provision for doubtful debts. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against operating expenses in surplus or deficit.

Accounts payable
Accounts payable are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially recorded at fair value and 
subsequently at amortised cost.

Finance lease obligations
Finance lease obligations consist of amounts owing to third-party lenders in relation to the financing of assets purchased. These obligations are 
intially recorded at fair value, and subsequently at the amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

1.5 LEASES
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an 
operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases – lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of 
financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The discount rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to 
each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between the amounts 
recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset and liability.

Any contingent rentals are expensed in the period they are incurred.
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Accounting Policies

1.6 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
The Institute assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the Institute estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is 
determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

The Institute assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets may 
no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in surplus or 
deficit.

1.7 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid vacation leave and sick 
leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not 
discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their entitlement or, 
in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

Defined contribution plans
Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plan in respect of services in a particular period are charged as an expense in that 
period.

1.8 PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES
Provisions are recognised when:

 • the Institute has a present obligation as a result of a past event;

 • it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and

 • a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement shall be 
recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement 
shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 24.

Accounting Policies (continued)
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1.9 REVENUE
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Institute and the revenue can be reliably measured. 
When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent 
of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable for goods and services 
provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts and volume rebates, and value added tax.

Approved training centres
Approved training centre fee revenue arises from the invoicing for accreditation as well as annual fees. Revenue is recognised in the year to 
which the fee relates.

Entrance and administration fees
Entrance and administration fees arise during and upon completion of the application process. The fees are invoiced and the revenue is 
recognised at the appropriate time during the processing of the application.

Membership fees and other annual fees
Membership fee revenue arises from the annual billing of members for annual membership. Revenue is recognised in the year to which the 
annual membership fee relates. Membership fees received prior to the year to which they relate are recorded as income received in advance 
and recognised in the year that the membership fee relates to.

Professional evaluation fees
Professional evaluation fees arise during the professional evaluation application process. The fees are invoiced and the revenue is recognised at 
the appropriate time during the processing of the application.

Technical and other income
Revenue from technical and other income is recognised when the Institute has invoiced the buyer and has provided the applicable services or 
transferred the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the buyer.

Investment income
Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the effective interest rate method. Dividends are recognised, in surplus or deficit, when the 
Institute’s right to receive payment has been established.

1.10 BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs don’t qualify to be capitalised, therefore, all borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.

1.11 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The Statement of Cash Flows is prepared using the Direct Method.
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2.  NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1  STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE AND ADOPTED IN THE CURRENT YEAR
In the current year, the Institute has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year and that 
are relevant to its operations. The impact of the adoption of these standards is considered immaterial:

 Standard / Interpretation:   Effective Date:

    Years beginning on or after:

 •  Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of    1 January 2016 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation

 •  Amendment to IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale    1 January 2016 
and Discontinued Operations: Annual Improvements Project

 •  Amendment to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures:    1 January 2016 
Annual Improvements Project

 •  Disclosure Initiative: Amendment to IAS 1: Presentation of   1 January 2016 
Financial Statements

2.2  STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The Institute has chosen not to early adopt the standards and interpretations below, which have been published and are mandatory for the 
Institute’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 or later periods. It is expected to be unlikely that there will be a material 
impact from the adoption of these standards and interpretations.

 Standard / Interpretation:   Effective Date:

    Years beginning on or after:

 •  IFRS 16 Leases   1 January 2019

 •  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments   1 January 2018

 •  IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers   1 January 2018

 •    Amendments to IFRS 15: Clarifications to IFRS 15   1 January 2018 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 •  Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative   1 January 2017

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements
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3.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2016

      

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2015

2016 2015

Cost Accumulated 
Depreciation

Carrying  
Value 

Cost Accumulated 
Depreciation

Carrying 
Value 

Land 775,000 - 775,000 775,000 - 775,000

Buildings 7,078,666 (808,583) 6,270,083 7,078,666 (808,583) 6,270,083

Furniture and fixtures 593,402 (383,749) 209,653 587,895 (325,150) 262,745

Motor vehicles 131,491 (126,795) 4,696 131,491 (126,012) 5,479

Office equipment 632,894 (359,350) 273,544 631,013 (266,658) 364,355

IT equipment 1,107,430 (823,411) 284,019 891,955 (720,655) 171,300

Finance lease assets – office equipment 1,217,385 (296,474) 920,911 1,854,678 (1,016,825) 837,853

TOTAL 11,536,268 (2,798,362) 8,737,906 11,950,698 (3,263,883) 8,686,815

Opening Balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Land 775,000 - - - 775,000

Buildings 6,270,083 - - - 6,270,083

Furniture and fixtures 316,659 4,053 - (57,969) 262,745

Motor vehicles 6,574 - - (1,095) 5,479

Office equipment 153,405 269,221 (7,602) (50,667) 364,355

IT equipment 230,917 52,926 (3,129) (109,414) 171,300

Finance lease assets – office equipment 493,292 670,778 - (326,217) 837,853

8,245,930 996,978 (10,731) (545,362) 8,686,815

Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security
The following assets have been encumbered as security for the finance lease liabilities (refer to note 13):

Opening Balance Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Land 775,000 - - - 775,000

Buildings 6,270,083 - - - 6,270,083

Furniture and fixtures 262,745 5,507 - (58,599) 209,653

Motor vehicles 5,479 - - (783) 4,696

Office equipment 364,355 1,880 - (92,691) 273,544

IT equipment 171,300 215,476 - (102,757) 284,019

Finance lease assets – office equipment 837,853 546,607 (138,121) (325,428) 920,911

8,686,815 769,470 (138,121) (580,258) 8,737,906

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2016
R

2015
R

Office equipment 920,911 837,853
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Details of properties
Erf 1339, Vorna Valley Extension 21, Gauteng

An independent valuation of the property as at 31 October 2016 valued the property at R9,000,000.

4.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2016

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2015

2016
R

2015
R

Purchase price: January 2007 7,775,000 7,775,000

Additions and capitalised expenditure 78,666 78,666

Buildings accumulated depreciation (808,583) (808,583)

TOTAL 7,045,083 7,045,083

2016 2015

Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated 
Amortisation

Carrying  
Value 

Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated 
Amortisation

Carrying 
Value 

Computer software 1,093,121 (860,105) 233,016 1,116,268 (688,944) 427,324

Website 80,689 (74,394) 6,295 80,689 (80,689) -

TOTAL 1,173,810 (934,499) 239,311 1,196,957 (769,633) 427,324

Opening Balance Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 427,324 37,335 (231,643) 233,016

Website - - 6,295 6,295

TOTAL 427,324 37,335 (225,348) 239,311

Opening Balance Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 415,977 178,100 (166,753) 427,324

Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements (continued)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

3.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)



82Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

5.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
 

3,641 shares held in Sanlam Ltd at a fair value of R62.90 per share (2015: R60.54)

Fair value information
Fair values are determined annually at Statement of Financial Position date. Investments in listed shares are categorised as Level 1 within the 
fair value hierarchy, with the value being determined in relation to a quoted market price.

The Institute has not reclassified any financial assets from cost or amortised cost to fair value or from fair value to cost or amortised cost during 
the current or prior years.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the debt securities classified as available for sale.

Reconciliation of available-for-sale financial assets

6.  FINANCIAL ASSETS BY CATEGORY
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Available-for-sale 2016 
R

2015
R

Listed shares at market value 229,019 220,426

2016 2015

Loans and 
Receivables

Available- 
for-sale

Total Loans and 
Receivables

Available- 
for-sale

Total 

Other financial assets - 229,019 229,019 - 220,426 220,426

Accounts receivable 2,780,512 - 2,780,512 1,528,574 - 1,528,574

Cash and cash equivalents 44,535,252 - 44,535,252 33,509,032 - 33,509,032

47,315,764 229,019 47,544,783 35,037,606 220,426 35,258,032

Non-current assets 2016
R

2015
R

Available-for-sale 229,019 220,426

Opening balance 220,426 254,870

Unrealised gains/(losses) disclosed in 
other comprehensive income

8,593 (34,444)

229,019 220,426



83 83

SOUTH AFRICAN INSTITUTE OF PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
(Registration number 069 956 NPO)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

7.  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

 
Accounts receivable pledged as security
Accounts receivable have not been pledged as security for any other financial obligation.

Credit quality of accounts receivable
The credit quality of debtors that are neither past nor due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to historical repayment trends of individual 
debtors. Credit terms are offered only to members registered on the Institute’s database with valid details. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above.

Fair value of accounts receivable
The carrying value of accounts receivable approximates fair value as the provision for impairment of debtors takes into account long outstanding 
amounts owed by members for whom the recoverability is unlikely. In determining the recoverability of debtors, the Institute considers the 
ageing of the receivable, the debtor’s membership status and historical payment trends. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the 
large membership base.

Accounts receivable past due but not impaired
The ageing of amounts past due but not impaired is as follows:

 

Accounts receivable impaired
As of 31 December 2016, trade and other receivables of R1,052,135 (2015: R1,046,541) were impaired and provided for. 

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables

2016 
R

2015
R

3 months past due 1,658,141 775,358

2016 
R

2015
R

Split between non-current and current portions

Current assets 3,009,275 1,996,823

Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements (continued)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2016 
R

2015
R

Debtors 3,657,402 2,424,226

Provision for impairment of debtors (1,052,135) (1,046,541)

Deposits 16,135 16,135

Prepayments 300,028 467,438

Other receivables 87,845 135,565

3,009,275 1,996,823

2016
R

2015
R

Opening balance (1,046,541) (883,122)

Provision for impairment (321,067) (1,059,095)

Amounts written off as uncollectable 315,473 895,676

(1,052,135) (1,046,541)
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8.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand
The credit quality of cash at bank and short term deposits, excluding cash on hand that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed 
by reference to historical information about counterparty default rates. None of the financial institutions with which bank balances are held 
defaulted in prior periods and as a result a credit rating of high is ascribed to the financial institutions. The Institute’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk as a result of the bank balances held is limited to the carrying value of these balances as detailed above.

Fair value of cash and cash equivalents
There are no differences between the fair value of the cash and cash equivalents and their carrying amount.

9.  BUILDING RESERVE

10. BURSARY FUND 

The Bursary Fund was established to provide for bursaries to be distributed from reserves.

11. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT FAIR VALUE RESERVE

2016
 R

2015
R

Bank balances 3,759,727 4,582,861

Short-term deposits 40,760,095 28,917,281

Cash on hand 15,430 8,890

44,535,252 33,509,032

Cession of short-term deposits for overdraft facility 500,000 500,000

2016 
R

2015
R

Balance at beginning of the year 720,000 480,000

Transfer from Accumulated Funds 240,000 240,000

960,000 720,000

2016 
R

2015
R

Balance at beginning of the year 429,337 430,000

Transfer from Accumulated Funds 50,000 50,000

Transfer to Accumulated Funds for bursaries awarded - (50,663)

479,337 429,337

2016
R

2015
R

Available-for-sale financial instruments 198,310 189,717
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

12. DEVELOPMENT FUND

13. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

The Institute leases certain office equipment under finance leases.

The average lease term is five years and the average effective borrowing rate was 9.5% (2015: 9.5%).

All leases have fixed repayments and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rent.

The Institute’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets. Refer note 3.

2016 
R

2015
R

Balance at beginning of the year 9,355,618 6,850,779

50% of entrance fees received 245,157 371,826

25% of net surplus 1,280,398 2,544,005

Transfer to Accumulated Funds for approved projects - (410,992)

10,881,173 9,355,618

Present value of minimum lease  
payments due

2016 
R

2015
R

within one year 311,282 402,746

in second to fifth year inclusive 627,179 597,874

Total 938,461 1,000,620

Non-current liabilities 627,179 597,874

Current liabilities 311,282 402,746

938,461 1,000,620

Minimum lease payments due
2016 

R
2015

R

within one year 393,190 472,165

in second to fifth year inclusive 689,258 683,102

1,082,448 1,155,267

less: future finance charges (143,987) (154,647)

PRESENT VALUE OF MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS 938,461 1,000,620
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14. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
 

Fair value of accounts payable
The accounts payable are interest free and unsecured. The fair value of accounts payable approximates the carrying value as the amounts 
payable are short-term in nature and do not fluctuate based on external factors.

15. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below: 

16. REVENUE

2016 
R

2015
R

Creditors 3,410,883 3,462,628

Income received in advance 16,709,044 10,531,382

VAT 2,583,298 1,963,152

Accrued leave pay 921,602 433,628

Other payables 2,701,472 3,093,191

26,326,299 19,483,981

 2016 
 R

 2015
 R

Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost

Total Financial Liabilities at 
Amortised Cost

Total

Finance lease liabilities 938,461 938,461 1,000,620 1,000,620

Accounts payable 7,105,222 7,105,222 6,989,447 6,989,447

8,043,683 8,043,683 7,990,067 7,990,067

2016
R

2015
R

Approved training centres 2,454,806 2,491,117

Entrance and administration fees 1,002,631 1,507,597

Membership fees 44,136,620 42,088,352

Professional evaluation 1,600,708 1,640,252

Technical income 730,278 243,941

Other revenue 3,681 102,179

49,928,724 48,073,438
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17. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

18. OPERATING SURPLUS
Operating surplus for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, amongst others:

2016 
R

2015
R

Auditor’s remuneration - external

Audit fees 260,683 223,052

2016 
R

2015
R

Employee costs

Employee costs (excluding defined contribution funds below) 19,027,734 18,497,417

Amount expensed in respect of defined contribution funds 1,006,178 865,400

TOTAL EMPLOYEE COSTS 20,033,912 19,362,817

2016 
R

2015
R

Operating lease charges

Premises 92,462 142,228

Equipment 125,553 130,024

218,015 272,252

Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements (continued)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2016 
R

2015
R

Advertising 1,328,930 776,098

CPD income 9,790,200 8,097,790

Insurance proceeds - 28,700

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 231,298 22,225

Claims performance credit - 2,233,533

Project Achiever income 2,846,249 839,750

Other income 16,572 658

14,213,249 11,998,754
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19. INVESTMENT INCOME

20. FINANCE COSTS

2016 
R

2015
R

Other

Increase in provision for impairment of debtors 321,067 1,059,095

2016 
R

2015
R

Dividend income

From investments in financial assets classified as available for sale:

Listed investments - Local 36,320 -

2016 
R

2015
R

Interest income

From investments in financial assets:

Bank and other cash 2,819,465 2,332,256

TOTAL INVESTMENT INCOME 2,855,785 2,332,256

2016 
R

2015
R

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 580,258 545,362

Amortisation of intangible assets 225,348 166,753

TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 805,606 712,115

2016 
R

2015
R

Finance leases 188,321 78,077

21. TAXATION

No provision has been made for taxation for 2016 as the Institute is exempt from income tax in terms of Section 30 and 10(1)(cN) of the 
Income Tax Act.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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23. COMMITTEE EXPENSES

22. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2016 
R

2015
R

Surplus for the year 5,121,591 10,176,020

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 805,606 712,115

Gain on disposal of assets (231,298) (22,225)

Dividend income (36,320) -

Interest income (2,819,465) (2,332,256)

Finance costs 188,321 78,077

Changes in working capital:

Trade and other receivables (1,012,452) 1,704,575

Trade and other payables 6,842,318 (1,783,819)

8,858,301 8,532,487

24. CONTINGENCIES

Professional Indemnity Policy Bonus
The Institute holds the right to a Professional Indemnity Policy Bonus which could result in the Institute receiving a future cash benefit 
dependent on the outcomes of current and future members litigation claims. The amount of the bonus, repayable to the Institute, is 
estimated at R1.8 million.

Claims
Legal proceedings were initiated against the Institute by one of its members during 2013. The Institute has set the matter down for 
finalisation. The estimated potential liability is R400,000.

Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements (continued)

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

2016 
R

2015
R

ARC 31,495 52,853

Board 572,158 489,752

EDCOM 256,855 98,278

EXCO 171,777 238,814

HRC 46,930 44,555

IC and DC 75,756 184,550

RADAC 41,233 391,257

SEC 59,108 50,067

TECHCOM 117,223 58,582

Legislative projects and other 366,362 435,409

1,738,897 2,044,117
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25. RELATED PARTIES

Please refer to notes 26 and 27 for additional related parties information.

26. KEY MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

2016 
R

2015
R

Related party transactions

Amounts paid to Board members for Non-Board related services provided

S Dollie 118,725 -

K Naicker 105,500 36,400

A Parker 1,800 1,800

H Salie - 13,050

M Seedat - 2,000

Y Yasseen 356,578 111,650

582,603 164,900

2016 
R

2015
R

Executives and key management

Short-term benefits 7,472,874 5,438,395

Termination benefits - 2,450,000

7,472,874 7,888,395

27. REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD

Board ARC RADAC EXCO EDCOM TECHCOM Other Total

2016

S Abass 27,500 - - - - - 9,000 36,500

C Dibete 46,500 - - 30,000 - - 37,100 113,600

J Dijkman1 25,500 - - - - - 10,000 35,500

S Dollie1 29,500 - - - 2,000 - 5,000 36,500

T Kubheka2 12,000 - - 7,000 - - - 19,000

K Naicker 35,500 - - 12,000 15,500 13,500 15,500 92,000

N Ntsinde2 8,000 - - - - - 8,000 16,000

A Parker 35,500 - - 22,500 - - - 58,000

P Pieterse 29,000 - - - - - 21,500 50,500

A Ramikosi 22,000 7,000 - - - - - 29,000

V Sangoni2 14,500 - - - - - 6,500 21,000

M Seedat 33,500 - - 21,000 4,000 - 3,500 62,000

B Tamba2 8,000 - - - - - 4,000 12,000

Y Yasseen 23,000 2,000 - - 21,000 - - 46,000

TOTAL 350,000 9,000 - 92,500 42,500 13,500 120,100 627,600

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

1 Appointed during 2016  2 Retired during 2016  3 Appointed during 2015  4 Retired during 2015
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27. REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board ARC RADAC EXCO EDCOM TECHCOM Other Total

2015

S Abass3 10,000 - - - - - 6,000 16,000

C Dibete 43,320 - 5,000 36,500 - - 20,000 104,820

T Kubheka 29,500 - - 18,500 - - - 48,000

K Naicker3 20,000 - 2,333 - 5,500 2,000 6,000 35,833

R Naidoo4 15,500 7,000 - - - - 6,000 28,500

N Ntsinde 22,000 - - 6,000 - - 29,500 57,500

S Olsen4 15,500 - - 14,000 - - 15,000 44,500

A Parker 27,500 - 5,000 34,500 - - 13,500 80,500

P Pieterse3 20,000 - 7,000 - - - 8,000 35,000

H Pretorius4 11,500 - - - - - - 11,500

A Ramikosi 14,000 11,000 - - - - - 25,000

H Salie4 13,500 - - - - - 7,500 21,000

V Sangoni 16,000 - - - - - 8,000 24,000

M Seedat 25,500 - 5,000 32,500 - - 16,559 79,559

B Tamba 27,500 - - - - - 6,000 33,500

Y Yasseen3 20,000 2,000 - - 7,000 - - 29,000

TOTAL 331,320 20,000 24,333 142,000 12,500 2,000 142,059 674,212

1 Appointed during 2016  2 Retired during 2016  3 Appointed during 2015  4 Retired during 2015

Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements (continued)

28. RISK MANAGEMENT 

Capital risk management
The Institute has no externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial risk management
The Institute’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk
The Institute’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Institute manages liquidity risk through an 
ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

Cash flow forecasts are prepared and adequate utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.

The table below analyses the Institute’s financial assets and financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period 
at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash 
flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
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Interest rate risk
At 31 December 2016, if interest rates on Rand-denominated borrowings had been 1% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, 
surplus for the year would have been R 445,198 (2015: R335,001) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income on short-term 
deposits and higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings.

The Institute’s interest rate risk arises mainly from cash and cash equivalents and finance leases.

Cash flow interest rate risk

 At 31 December 2016  At 31 December 2015

Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years Less than 1 year Between 1 and 5 years

Other financial assets  - 229,019 - 220,426

Accounts receivable 2,780,512  - 1,528,574 -

Bank balances 3,759,727  - 4,582,861 -

Short-term deposits 40,760,095  - 28,917,281 -

Cash on hand 15,430  - 8,890 -

Finance lease liabilities (311,282) (627,179) (402,746) (597,874)

Accounts payable (7,105,222)  - (6,989,447) -

Financial instrument Current interest rate Due in less than 1 year

Cash in current banking institutions 0.05 % 3,759,727

Short-term deposits 5.60 % 40,760,095

Fair value interest rate risk

Financial instrument Current interest rate Due in less than 1 year Due in 1 to 5 years

Finance lease liabilities 9.50 % 311,282 627,179

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The Institute only deposits cash with major banks with 
high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Accounts receivable comprise a widespread membership base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to members on an ongoing basis.

Financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Price risk
The Institute is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by the Institute and classified on the statement of financial 
position as available-for-sale. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Institute does not hold a significant 
portion of its assets in equity securities.

If the equity prices had increased/decreased by 1% with all other variables held constant, the surplus for the year would have been R2,290 
(2015: R2,204) lower/higher.

Other comprehensive income would increase/decrease as a result of gains or losses on equity securities classified a available-for-sale.

Financial instrument 2016 2015

Other financial assets 229,019 220,426

Accounts receivable 2,780,572 1,528,574

Bank balances 3,759,727 4,582,861

Short-term deposits 40,760,095 28,917,281
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SOUTH AFRICAN INSTITUTE OF PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS
(Registration number 069 956 NPO)

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2016

Detailed Income Statement

Detailed Income Statement

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.

Note(s) 2016  
R

2015
R

REVENUE

Approved Training Centres 2,454,806 2,491,117

Entrance and administration fees 1,002,631 1,507,597

Membership fees 44,136,620 42,088,352

Professional evaluation 1,600,708 1,640,252

Technical income 730,278 243,941

Other income 3,681 102,179

16 49,928,724 48,073,438

OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Advertising 1,328,930 776,098

CPD income 9,790,200 8,097,790

Insurance proceeds - 28,700

Gain on disposal of assets 231,298 22,225

Claims performance credit - 2,233,533

Project Achiever 2,846,249 839,750

Other income 16,572 658

17 14,213,249 11,998,754
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Note(s) 2016 
R

2015
R

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Advertising and exhibitions (3,403,261) (1,895,657)

Approved Training Centres (2,440,872) (1,189,603)

Attendance fees (989,655) (1,150,797)

Auditors remuneration 18 (260,683) (223,052)

Bank charges (403,879) (308,553)

Board training (170,979) (3,858)

Bursaries - (50,663)

CPD expenses (8,192,696) (6,509,634)

CoTE expenses (1,145,709) (544,643)

Computer expenses (1,702,325) (1,396,282)

Consulting and professional fees (5,036,548) (2,407,756)

Depreciation and amortisation (805,606) (712,115)

Donations - (2,266)

Employee costs (20,066,714) (19,362,817)

Entertainment (2,746) (7,015)

Insurance (207,878) (215,592)

Lease rentals on operating lease (218,015) (272,252)

Legal expenses (181,277) (346,944)

Motor vehicle expenses (26,959) (39,683)

Postage (187,832) (159,984)

Printing and stationery (290,736) (249,991)

Professional evaluations (1,129,663) (954,533)

Professional indemnity insurance (6,260,456) (6,336,800)

Promotions (443,949) (193,808)

Provision for impairment of debtors (321,067) (1,059,095)

Publications (818,406) (658,800)

Repairs and maintenance (496,758) (344,713)

Security - (12,415)

Staff welfare (429,652) (387,418)

Strategic operations (21,481) (26,720)

Subscriptions (2,325,897) (1,832,487)

Telephone and fax (1,049,683) (817,576)

Travel – local (1,145,384) (962,584)

Travel – overseas (516,068) (569,299)

Utilities (335,143) (341,890)

Venue and catering (627,836) (533,656)

Website expenses (32,033) (69,400)

(61,687,846) (52,150,351)

OPERATING SURPLUS 18 2,454,127 7,921,841

Investment income 19 2,855,785 2,332,256

Finance costs 20 (188,321) (78,077)

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 5,121,591 10,176,020

Detailed Income Statement

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.
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